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he real estate market continued to tread cautiously in 

2015 amidst slower economic growth in Singapore 

and global economic uncertainties.

GDP growth fell to 2%, compared to 2.9% in 2014. The various 

property cooling measures are still in place and the sector 

continues to face a challenging operating environment for 

both residential and commercial.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Oversupply, cooling measures, lending curbs along with the 

looming interest rate hikes and global economic uncertainties 

have kept sales activities and prices of private homes low.

In 2015, marketing of The Panorama remained active. As at  

31 December 2015, 80% of the 698 units in The Panorama were 

sold at an average of $1,250 psf, seven of the 84 units in luxury 

Ardmore Three were sold at an average of $3,300 psf and 82% 

of the 338 units at Scotts Square were sold at an average of 

$4,000 psf. Of the 61 unsold units in Scotts Square, 33 one-

bedroom apartments were leased to generate rental income.

In China, construction under Phase 1 of our Fuyang project,  

雍景山, is in progress. A total of 171 units out of the 271 

launched units were sold at an average of RMB9,030 psm.

For our Investment Properties, the overall occupancy for 

Wheelock Place was 100% at a blended rent of close to $14  

psf per month as at 31 December 2015. Various new retail and 

food and beverage outlets have rejuvenated the basement 

trading floors, and we have intensified our mall advertising 

and promotion programmes through different avenues to 

increase footfall to the mall.

On Scotts Square Retail, the tenant mix revamp and 

transformation for Level 2 has been completed. Active 

negotiations are in progress with international luxury brand 

retailers to expand our retail offerings on Basement 1, Level 1 

and Level 3.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group achieved $372 million in revenue and $40 million in 

profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Group’s Investment Properties were appraised by 

independent professional valuers. Wheelock Place was 

revalued from $915 million to $912 million and Scotts 

Square Retail was revalued from $260 million to $234 

million. Impairment in fair value of $31 million, including 

improvement works to Investment Properties of $2 million, 

was accounted for in the Statement of Profit or Loss under 

other operating expenses.

The Directors have recommended a first and final tax exempt 

(one-tier) dividend of 6 cents per share. The final dividend,  

if approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 

29 April 2016, will be paid on 18 May 2016. Total distribution 

would represent 178% of Group profit in 2015. In arriving at 

the dividend, the Board took into consideration the Group’s 

profit, cash position, future cash requirements and returns to 

shareholders. The Group continues to seek and pursue suitable 

re-investment opportunities on a selective basis, both in 

Singapore and abroad.

The Group’s borrowings were $515 million. The lower borrowings  

were mainly due to the prepayment of the bank loan previously 

arranged to finance the sites at Fuyang City, China.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Company, with the commitment of my fellow Directors 

and Management, strives to continuously maintain its high 

standard of corporate governance by following established 

sound policies and risk management practices. The Company 

values economic viability, environmental protection and social 

responsibility by adopting sustainable practices in its corporate 

activities. More details are in the main Annual Report.

T
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OUTLOOK

s the various property cooling measures are likely to 

remain, 2016 is expected to be another challenging 

year for the Company.

Uncertainties remain in the residential market, arising from 

weakness in the global economy, interest rate hikes and fear 

of oversupply in 2016.

For the office market, rentals have declined and are likely  

to face downward pressure due to increased supply from  

2016, consolidation of business operations and rightsizing  

of companies.

The retail market is likely to operate in a similar tough environment 

due to uncertain economic conditions, falling tourist arrivals, 

manpower shortage and an evolving retail landscape.

Rental income from the Group’s Investment Properties, as 

well as dividends and interest income from investments, will 

continue to contribute to the Group’s recurring income.

With prudent capital management and a healthy balance 

sheet, the Group is well-positioned to stay resilient to meet 

the challenges ahead.

The Group had a cash standing of $612 million as at  

31 December 2015.

A
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Mr Paul Tsui retired from the Board on 1 August 2015. 

Together with the rest of the Board, I thank Mr Tsui for his 

invaluable contribution during his tenure as a Director. 

I am pleased to welcome Mr Lee Wai Chung, who joined the 

Board as a non-executive Director from 1 August 2015.  

Mr Lee has over 30 years of financial management 

experience across different business sectors and companies, 

and is a Chartered Accountant by training. I look forward to 

his contribution in the years ahead.

My appreciation goes to my fellow Directors for their guidance 

in navigating the Company through these challenging times 

and to the management team and staff for their hard work 

and commitment.

On behalf of the Board, I would also like to thank our shareholders 

and business partners for their continued support for the Group.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

STEPHEN T. H. NG
Chairman

29 February 2016
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SCOTTS SQUARE

trategically located in the heart of Orchard Road, 

the freehold Scotts Square comprises 338 

apartments within two luxury residential towers 

atop the 4-storey boutique Scotts Square mall. 

With its distinctive address, meticulous space planning, 

luxurious finishes and breathtaking skyline views, Scotts 

Square residences is one of the most coveted homes in 

the heart of the city.

The myriad of amenities are offered on various floors. The 

Club Floor on Level 8 houses the swimming pool and jacuzzi, 

business centre, library and concierge desk. A well-equipped 

gymnasium is located on Level 10 and residents can enjoy 

panoramic city views at the sky pool with heated jacuzzi on  

the spectacular Level 35.

As at the end of 2015, 82% (277 units) of the 338 units were 

sold, representing 87% of the net saleable area at an average of  

$4,000 psf. 

64% (39 units) of the 61 available one-bedroom units have 

been earmarked for leasing. As at the end of December 2015, 

33 units have been leased, representing 85% occupancy at an 

average monthly rent of $5,100. 

ARDMORE THREE

36-storey freehold development within the 

prestigious Ardmore Park enclave, Ardmore Three 

accommodates 84 luxurious three-bedroom 

apartments elevated from Level 9 to Level 36.

Ardmore Three offers a bespoke landscape designed by 2015 

President’s Design award recipient, Dr Colin K. Okashimo. 

Complementing the landscape is an exclusive range of 

recreational facilities such as lap pool, bliss pool and alfresco 

dining terrace. A fully-equipped gym and residents' lounge 

are located on Level 4.

In October, the development received the Honorable 

Mention from the Singapore Institute of Architects' 

Architectural Design Awards 2015, in recognition for its 

architectural excellence and innovative solutions. It also 

won the Residential (High-Rise) Category at the FIABCI 

Singapore Property Awards in November, for excellence in 

design, aesthetics, functionality and contribution to the 

built environment in Singapore.

As at the end of 2015, seven units have been sold at an 

average of $3,300 psf. Active marketing is on-going.

S A

PROPERTY OVERVIEW
Development Properties
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ited at Fuyang City, 22 km away from Hangzhou, China, 

雍景山 comprises villas, townhouses, duplexes and 

apartments on a site area of 3.2 million square feet. 

Surrounded by lush nature and closely linked to Western 

Hangzhou via tunnel, the development is in the vicinity of 

numerous educational institutions and attractions, namely the 

Xixi Wetland, Hangzhou Safari and XiangYang Reservoir.

Construction of Phase 1, comprising four villas, 111 townhouses, 

140 duplexes and 222 high-rise units, is in progress and it is 

expected to complete in 2016. 

As at 31 December 2015, 171 out of 271 launched units for 

Phase 1 were sold at an average of RMB9,030 psm. Active 

marketing is on-going.

THE PANORAMA

he Panorama is a 698-unit leasehold condominium 

nestled in the established Upper Thomson/Ang Mo 

Kio neighbourhood. Its strategic central location in 

the North offers residents easy connection to the city 

with its excellent transportation network via the Central 

Expressway and the future Mayflower MRT Station on the 

upcoming Thomson/East Coast Line.

Stretched across 198,942 square feet of lush, landscaped 

gardens, The Panorama comprises two 20-storey and four 

17-storey towers of one to five-bedroom apartments and 

spacious penthouses for multi-generation families. 

Two Sky Parks perched atop the residential towers, offers 

recreational facilities which include a jacuzzi, gymnasium 

and dance studio as well as outdoor dining with grill  

facilities. Additionally, the ground level amenities feature a 

240-metre long elevated panoramic trail walk among the 

trees, a children’s pool and a lap pool with aqua gym  

hydro-fitness equipment.

In February, The Panorama was conferred Gold at the BCA 

Green Mark Awards 2015. The project was also honoured 

Gold at the BCA Building Information Modelling (BIM) Awards 

in October, for the adoption of good BIM design and 

construction practices.

As at the end of 2015, a total of 561 units or about 94% of the  

600 units launched have been sold at an average of $1,250 psf. 

The sales gallery and showflats are located off-site along Ang 

Mo Kio Avenue 8 and active marketing is on-going.

T
雍景山

S
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WHEELOCK PLACE

trategically located at the Orchard and Paterson Road 

junction, and conveniently linked to the busy Orchard 

MRT Station, Wheelock Place is a retail mall of fashion 

and lifestyle stores, services and food and beverage 

outlets spanned over seven storeys. 

The retail mall continues to attract unique and new-to-market 

concepts, and offers shoppers a differentiated retail experience.

Above the shopping podium is a 16-storey office tower with 

more than 175,000 square feet of total lettable area. It houses 

numerous Fortune 500 multinational companies and Asia 

Pacific headquarters of several leading luxury brands. 

Wheelock Place office tower enjoys full occupancy as at the  

end of 2015.

S
SCOTTS SQUARE RETAIL

cotts Square is a boutique luxury shopping destination 

located in the heart of Orchard Road. The mall has 

numerous top international labels and delectable 

dining selections spread over four floors. 

In 2015, Scotts Square underwent a re-tenanting exercise to 

rejuvenate and refresh its offerings. New international brands 

include Alexander McQueen, Delvaux and multi-label shoe 

boutique Pedder on Scotts. Speciality coffee purveyor,  

The Coffee Academics from Hong Kong, has also opened its 

first overseas outlet in Singapore to enhance the shopping 

experience at Scotts Square.

In conjunction with the new tenant mix, a multi-channel marketing 

campaign was rolled out from July 2015 to heighten awareness 

and entice shoppers to Scotts Square. Other new initiatives 

include a suite of concierge services and implementation of a 

loyalty programme to build shoppers’ loyalty and improve 

customer relations.

S

PROPERTY OVERVIEW
Investment Properties
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
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Fax: (65) 6735 9833

www.wheelockproperties.com.sg
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Notes:
Dividends per share for FY2015 relates to the proposed first and final exempt (one-tier) dividend. 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT ($’000)

Revenue  371,593  99,015  117,074  208,530  390,493 

Profit for the year  40,331  43,126  40,040  63,296  291,168 

GROUP STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION ($’000)

Investment properties  1,146,000  1,175,000  1,227,000  1,222,000  1,260,000 

Investments  251,814  591,828  871,322  823,818  250,104 

Interests in associates  560,478  547,968  7  7  7 

Development properties  1,108,931  1,176,381  1,224,592  617,509  366,682 

Cash and cash equivalents  611,565  408,515  457,289  720,649  1,081,625 

Other assets  43,283  18,670  13,426  165,717  321,484 

Bank loans (515,214) (658,423) (631,872) (278,770) (160,274)

Other liabilities (172,279) (127,313) (159,274) (142,583) (224,263)

 3,034,578  3,132,626  3,002,490  3,128,347  2,895,365 

Representing:

Share capital  1,055,901  1,055,901  1,055,901  1,055,901  1,055,901 

Reserves  1,978,677  2,076,725  1,946,589  2,072,446  1,839,464 

 3,034,578  3,132,626  3,002,490  3,128,347  2,895,365 

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Earnings per share (cents)  3.37  3.60  3.35  5.29  24.33 

Net asset value per share ($)  2.54  2.62  2.51  2.61  2.42 

Dividends per share (cents)  6.00  6.00  6.00  6.00  6.00 

Return on shareholders' equity (%)  1.33  1.38  1.33  2.02  10.06 

Return on assets (%)  1.08  1.10  1.06  1.78  8.88 

Debt-equity ratio (%)  16.98  21.02  21.04  8.91  5.54 

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Notes:
*	 Dividends per share for FY2015 relates to the proposed first and final exempt (one-tier) dividend.
Figures prior to FY2011 have been restated following the early adoption of the amendments to FRS 12 Income Taxes with effect from 1 January 2011.
Figures for FY2007 relate to a 9-month period.

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS

GROUP TOTAL ASSETS GROUP REVENUE

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE EARNINGS PER SHARE

GROUP PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Lee joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 1 August 2015. Mr Lee 

is proposed for re-election in accordance with Article 118 of the Company’s 

Constitution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 29 April 2016. 

Mr Lee has over 30 years of financial management experience across different 

business sectors and companies. He was formerly the Chief Operating Officer at 

Joyce Boutique Holdings Ltd, a publicly listed company in Hong Kong. Later, he 

became the Chief Financial Officer for the Lane Crawford Joyce Group, overseeing 

the retail group’s finance and corporate functions. 

Currently, Mr Lee is Director and Group Financial Controller of Wheelock Corporate 

Services Limited and Wheelock Properties (Hong Kong) Limited, both being wholly-

owned subsidiaries of Wheelock and Company Limited (Wheelock), and he is a 

member of Wheelock’s Finance Committee. He assumes responsibilities for 

Wheelock’s finance, banking, investor relations, human resources and corporate 

communications functions.

Mr Lee is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and 

the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in United Kingdom (also a 

Chartered Global Management Accountant). In 2004, he attained a Master of 

Business Administration degree (EMBA Programme) from The Hong Kong University 

of Science & Technology Business School and The Kellogg School of Management 

of Northwestern University. 

Mr Ng joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 24 December 2012 and 

was appointed as Chairman of the Company with executive role on 1 April 2013.  

Mr Ng was re-elected as Director at the Annual General Meeting on 19 April 2013 and 

is proposed for re-election in accordance with Article 109 of the Company’s 

Constitution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 29 April 2016.

Mr Ng is Chairman and Managing Director of the publicly listed The Wharf (Holdings) 

Limited. He joined the Wharf group in January 1981 and was appointed Director and 

Chief Financial Officer in October 1987, and Managing Director in May 1989. He was 

appointed Deputy Chairman in June 1994 and Chairman in May 2015.

Among other companies in Hong Kong and Singapore of which Mr Ng serves as a 

Director, he is Deputy Chairman of Wheelock and Company Limited, Chairman of 

Harbour Centre Development Limited, i-CABLE Communications Limited and 

Joyce Boutique Holdings Limited as well as a Director of Hotel Properties Limited, 

all being listed public companies. He is also Chairman of Modern Terminals Limited, 

Wharf T&T Limited and The “Star” Ferry Company Limited.

Mr Ng attended Ripon College in Ripon, Wisconsin, U.S.A. and the University of 

Bonn, Germany, from 1971 to 1975, and graduated with a major in mathematics.  

Mr Ng was formerly a non-executive Director of Greentown China Holdings 

Limited, a listed public company in Hong Kong. He is currently Chairman of Project 

WeCan Committee, Deputy Chairman of the Hong Kong General Chamber of 

Commerce and a Council Member of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong.

STEPHEN TIN HOI NG
Chairman

LEE WAI CHUNG
Non-Executive Director
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Mr Yung joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 21 August 1990 and 

was appointed Lead Independent Director on 11 November 2013. Mr Yung serves 

as the Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee and as a member of 

the Remuneration Committee. He was last re-appointed as Director at the Annual 

General Meeting on 30 April 2015 pursuant to the then Section 153(6) of the 

Companies Act, Chapter 50, and is proposed for re-appointment at the forthcoming 

Annual General Meeting on 29 April 2016.

Mr Yung’s career spans 24 years with Inchcape Bhd, where in the last three years 

he served as Deputy Chairman and Chairman of Inchcape Singapore. He was 

Chairman of the Telecommunication Authority of Singapore from 1974 to 1986, 

Chief Executive Officer of Singapore Press Holdings Limited, and a Director of  

DBS Bank Ltd and Datacraft Asia Ltd. Additionally, Mr Yung was formerly a member 

of the Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore, a member of the Securities Industry 

Council and a member of the Advisory Committee of the Faculty of Business 

Administration, National University of Singapore. 

Mr Yung is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. In addition, he is a member of the 

Singapore Institute of Directors. 

Mr Seow joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 7 March 2008, and 

serves as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and as a member of the Audit & 

Risk Management and Remuneration Committees. He was last re-elected as 

Director at the Annual General Meeting on 19 April 2013 and is proposed for  

re-election in accordance with Article 109 of the Company’s Constitution at the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting on 29 April 2016.

Mr Seow has served with the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation 

(GIC) where he was responsible for overseeing its global fixed income and real 

estate investment portfolios, and in San Francisco looking after GIC’s U.S. real 

estate investments. Mr Seow was also with the Monetary Authority of Singapore 

(MAS), where he worked in New York managing U.S. fixed-income securities for 

the MAS. 

He joined DBS Asset Management Ltd in 1999 and was responsible for the 

regional fund management business until 2006. Mr Seow was previously the 

Chairman of Singapore Land Authority and AMP Capital Investors (Singapore). 

He was also formerly a Director of Hwang-DBS Securities Bhd, a publicly listed 

company in Malaysia, an independent Director of PartnerRe Limited, a global 

listed reinsurance company, and a Board Member of Singapore's Land Transport 

Authority.

Mr Seow currently sits on the Board of AIA Singapore Private Limited. He is also 

President of the Singapore Council for Estate Agencies.

Mr Seow graduated from the Australian National University with a Bachelor of 

Economics (First Class Honours) degree and a Master in Economics. 

FRANK YUNG-CHENG YUNG
Non-Executive and 

Lead Independent Director

GREG FOOK HIN SEOW
Non-Executive and 

Independent Director
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Mr McCarthy joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 26 September 

2008. He serves as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and as a member of 

the Audit & Risk Management and Nominating Committees. Mr McCarthy was last 

re-elected as Director at the Annual General Meeting on 30 April 2015.

Mr McCarthy’s career has been in banking. He joined Bank of America’s Dublin 

office in 1979 and was later transferred to London. In 1991, he moved to Asia to 

become Country Executive Officer of the Singapore office. Mr McCarthy was 

appointed President, Bank of America Asia, in 2003 and after 29 years of service, 

retired from the bank in June 2008. He was previously a Director of Oversea-

Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Bank of Singapore Limited and The Irish 

Chamber of Commerce Singapore.

Mr McCarthy is currently Head of Global Banking, Asia Pacific, with Wells Fargo Bank. 

He also sits on the Board of Governors of Tanglin Trust School.

Mr McCarthy was conferred the Public Service Medal (PMB) from the Singapore 

Government in 2003 for his contribution to the financial services industry.

Mr McCarthy graduated from University College Dublin with a Bachelor of Commerce 

(Honours) and a Master of Business Studies (First Class Honours).

COLM MARTIN MCCARTHY 
Non-Executive and 

Independent Director

Mr Lim joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 12 February 2009.  

Mr Lim serves as a member of the Audit & Risk Management and Nominating 

Committees. He was last re-elected as Director at the Company’s Annual General 

Meeting on 30 April 2015.

Mr Lim has worked in various capacities in public and private sectors, both locally 

and overseas. His past roles included Group Chief Executive Officer of Neptune 

Orient Lines Limited, Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Port of Singapore 

Authority, CEO of Jurong Town Corporation and CEO of the China-Singapore 

Suzhou Industrial Park based in Shanghai. He was also Chairman of the National 

Computer Board and Jurong International Holdings Pte Ltd. Mr Lim was a Member 

of Parliament from 1997 to 2006, and served in a number of portfolios, most 

latterly, as Acting Minister for Information, Communications and the Arts. 

Mr Lim is Deputy Chairman of Ascendas Property Fund Trustee Pte Ltd, and chairs 

its Investment Committee. He is also a Director of Economic Development 

Innovations Singapore Pte Ltd and Advanced Materials Technologies Pte Ltd, and a 

Member of the Supervisory Board of Dornier MedTech GmbH, Germany. 

Mr Lim graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering (First Class Honours) degree from 

the University of Melbourne, and holds a Master in Business Administration degree 

from the National University of Singapore. Mr Lim also completed a Programme for 

Management Development at Harvard University, U.S.A.

DAVID TIK EN LIM
Non-Executive and 

Independent Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Mr Kwok joined the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 1 June 2013.  

He serves as a member of the Audit & Risk Management Committee. Mr Kwok was last 

re-elected as Director at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 25 April 2014. 

Mr Kwok was a Senior Partner of Ernst & Young LLP in Singapore and retired in 2012 

after 35 years with the firm. He headed up the firm’s Assurance Services in Singapore 

and ASEAN. His 35 years of experience spans across audits, M&A, public listings and 

other fund-raising activities, both locally as well as overseas. Apart from audit and M&A 

work, he has also carried out various investigations and litigation support assignments. 

Mr Kwok is currently also a Director and Chairman of the Audit Committees of 

Singapore Exchange Limited and Mapletree Greater China Commercial Trust 

Management Ltd. He was previously a Director of NTUC ElderCare Co-operative 

Ltd and NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative Ltd. He is a Governing Council 

Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors and has been involved in various 

initiatives to foster improvements in corporate governance and reporting practices. 

Mr Kwok has also recently been appointed as Chairman of the Accounting 

Standards Council of Singapore. 

Mr Kwok graduated from the University of Sheffield (United Kingdom) with a 

Bachelor of Arts degree (Second Class Upper Honours), with dual honours in 

Economics and Accounting & Financial Management. He is a Fellow of the Institute 

of Singapore Chartered Accountants. He qualified as a Chartered Accountant and 

is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales as well 

as the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is also a Fellow of the Malaysian 

Institute of Taxation and the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Ms Tan, with over 30 years of real estate experience, was appointed to the Wheelock 

Properties (Singapore) Board on 26 May 2006. Ms Tan serves as a member of the 

Nominating Committee. She was last re-elected as Director at the Annual General 

Meeting on 30 April 2015.

Ms Tan started her career in banking at Overseas Union Bank Limited. Her real estate 

experience, both in Singapore and Hong Kong, includes consultancy, marketing 

and sales.

Ms Tan joined the Company in 1996 to spearhead the launch of Ardmore Park. 

Over the years, she has successfully conceptualised and marketed the Group’s real 

estate portfolio including the award-winning Ardmore Three project, in addition to 

other responsibilities.

Since 2012, she has assumed responsibility for operations in Singapore.

Currently, she sits on the Boards of the various subsidiaries of the Wheelock Properties  

(Singapore) Group.

Ms Tan graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree (Honours) in Building from 

the National University of Singapore and is a member of the Singapore Institute of 

Surveyors and Valuers.

KEVIN KHIEN KWOK
Non-Executive and 

Independent Director

TAN BEE KIM
Senior Executive Director
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Mr Tan was appointed to the Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Board on 1 January  

2007. He was last re-elected as Director at the Annual General Meeting on  

25 April 2014 and is proposed for re-election in accordance with Article 109 of 

the Company’s Constitution at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting on  

29 April 2016. 

Prior to joining the Company in 1995, Mr Tan was with Singapore Airlines Limited, 

Sumitomo Trust & Banking Co. Ltd. and Keppel Land Limited. His portfolio included, 

among others, real estate investments and development, financing and overseas 

marketing. Mr Tan has over 30 years of experience in the real estate industry. 

In his current position, he is responsible for the Group’s risk management 

portfolio which includes investments, project completion, finance & treasury and 

company secretariat.

 

During his 20 years with the Group, Mr Tan has been responsible for driving a string 

of successful acquisitions of sites for redevelopment such as the former Times 

House, The Sea View Hotel/China Airlines’ apartments, Habitat One, Habitat II, 

Angullia View, Scotts Shopping Centre, The Ascott Singapore and The Panorama. 

In addition, he was responsible for the overseas acquisitions and successful 

divestments of the Hamptons Group Limited in United Kingdom and the Oakwood 

Residence Azabujuban, a luxury serviced residence in Tokyo, Japan. 

Currently, he sits on the Boards of the various subsidiaries of the Wheelock 

Properties (Singapore) Group.

Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Estate Management from the 

National University of Singapore. He is a member of the Singapore Institute of 

Surveyors and Valuers and a licensed appraiser for land and buildings in Singapore.

TAN ZING YAN
Executive Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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The Group believes that establishing good corporate  

governance is not a one-time action. On the contrary, it evolves  

constantly over time and in response to new regulations, 

standards and market conditions. Good and transparent 

corporate governance ensures that a company is responsibly 

managed and supervised with an orientation towards  

value creation. 

At Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited, we are committed 

to continuously develop and uphold the high standards of our 

corporate governance principles.

In this Report, we set out the principles, policies and practices 

of corporate governance which the Group has adopted in 

line with the principles and guidelines of the Code of 

Corporate Governance 2012 (the Code). In areas where the 

Group deviates from the Code, the rationales are provided.

BOARD MATTERS

Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Board is responsible for the overall management and the 

long-term success of the Company. All Directors are expected 

to make decisions independently, objectively and in the best 

interest of the Company. Apart from statutory responsibilities, 

the Board provides entrepreneurial leadership, supervision and 

oversight, sets strategic objectives and ensuring that the 

necessary financial and human resources are in place for the 

Company to meet its objectives. The Board sets policies on 

matters relating to financial controls, financial performance 

and risk management procedures (including safeguarding of 

shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets), reviews the 

financial performance of the Group, reviews management 

performance, identifies key stakeholder groups, considers 

sustainability issues such as environmental and social factors, 

sets the values and standards of the Company (including ethical 

standards) and ensures that obligations to shareholders and 

other stakeholders are understood and met. The Board also 

reviews and approves major investment and divestment 

proposals, material acquisitions, disposals and funding decisions, 

major commitments relating to the Group’s operations, major 

policies on key areas of operations, bank facilities, annual 

budget and the release of the Group’s quarterly and full year 

results. The Board has in place specific policies and procedures 

setting out the levels of authorisation required for specific 

transactions for operational efficiency and risk management. 

In addition, the Board oversees the process of evaluating the 

adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial 

reporting and compliance and assumes responsibility for the 

Company’s compliance with the guidelines on corporate 

governance. To assist the Board in the execution of its 

responsibilities, the Board delegates specific responsibilities 

to the Audit & Risk Management Committee (ARMC),  

Nominating Committee (NC) and Remuneration Committee 

(RC). Each Board Committee has its own Terms of References 

to address their respective areas of focus and composition 

and reports its activities regularly to the Board. The Terms of 

References of the Board Committees are reviewed regularly 

to ensure that they remain relevant and are in line with best 

practices. Specific descriptions of these Board Committees 

are set out in this Report. There are also two other committees 

which deal with investments and divestments, and acquisitions 

and disposals of the Group within levels of authorisation 

approved by the Board. 

The Board meets on a quarterly basis to review the Group’s 

performance, internal policies and procedures, risk management, 

investments and divestments, acquisitions and disposals, and 

to approve the release of the quarterly and full year results. The 

Board holds additional meetings as and when necessary to 

deliberate on significant transactions and issues. Meetings via 

telephone or video conference are permitted under the 

Company’s Constitution. Apart from formal meetings, decisions 

of the Board and Board Committees may also be obtained via 

resolutions by circular. Meetings are scheduled one year in 

advance to assist Directors in planning their attendance at Board 

and Board Committee Meetings, as well as the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM). 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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During the year under review, the number of Board and Board Committee meetings held and the attendance of each Board 

member at the meetings were as follows:

Period from January 2015 to December 2015

BOARD / 
BOARD COMMITTEES BOARD

AUDIT & RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE
NOMINATING 

COMMITTEE
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE

No. of meetings held 4 4 1 1

Name of Director

Stephen T. H. Ng 4 N.A. N.A. N.A.

Paul Y. C. Tsui1 2 N.A. N.A. N.A.

Lee Wai Chung2 2 N.A. N.A. N.A.

Frank Y. C. Yung 4 4 N.A. 1

Greg F. H. Seow 4 4 1 1

Colm M. McCarthy 4 4 1 1

David T. E. Lim 4 4 1 N.A.

Kevin K. Kwok 4 4 N.A. N.A.

Tan Bee Kim 4 N.A. 1 N.A.

Tan Zing Yan 4 N.A. N.A. N.A.

1	 Paul Y. C. Tsui resigned as Director on 1 August 2015.
2	 Lee Wai Chung was appointed as Director on 1 August 2015.

Each Director has been appointed on the strength of his 

calibre and experience. All the Directors bring independent 

judgement to bear on issues of risk, performance, resources 

and standards and contribute to the Group through their 

sharing of views, advice and experiences. The Group 

therefore believes that a Director’s contribution extends 

beyond the confines of the formal environment of meetings 

and it would be too narrow a view to judge a Director’s 

contribution to the Group and its businesses based only on 

his attendance at meetings. 

The Company has in place an orientation programme for 

newly appointed Directors to assimilate them into their new 

roles. Upon appointment, each Director is briefed on the 

Group’s businesses, directions and governance policies and 

provided with a formal letter setting out his duties and 

obligations. Directors are also provided with materials 

containing essential information about the Group, relevant 

laws and regulations. Appropriate external training in areas 

such as financial, legal and industry-specific knowledge will 

be arranged where necessary. When a Director is appointed 

to a Board Committee, he is provided with a copy of the 

Terms of Reference of that Committee.

The Board is updated regularly on risk management, 

corporate governance and key changes in the relevant 

regulatory requirements and financial reporting standards by 

the Auditors, Management and Company Secretary. Relevant 

news releases issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (SGX-ST), the Accounting and Corporate 

Regulatory Authority and the Monetary Authority of Singapore 

are also circulated to the Board. Directors are encouraged to 

attend training and seminars funded by the Company, 

particularly on relevant new laws, governance practices, 

updates/developments in regulatory framework including 

those organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors (SID), 

Singapore Exchange Limited and PricewaterhouseCoopers 

LLP. During the year, Directors attended in-house training on 

changes to the Companies Act conducted by Messrs. Lee & 

Lee, briefings by Auditors on changes to the Financial 

Reporting Standards and seminars organised by SID.

Board Composition and Guidance

In line with the Code, the policy of the Group is to have an 

appropriate mix of executive and independent Directors to 

maintain the independence of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board consists of nine members, five of whom are independent Directors. Profiles of the Directors are set out in the 

“Board of Directors” section in the Annual Report. The directorships in other listed companies held by the Directors currently 

and in the preceding three years are as follows:

NAME
PRESENT DIRECTORSHIPS 
IN OTHER LISTED COMPANIES

PAST DIRECTORSHIPS 
IN LISTED COMPANIES HELD  
OVER THE PRECEDING THREE YEARS

Stephen T. H. Ng Wheelock and Company Limited 

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited 

Harbour Centre Development Limited 

i-CABLE Communications Limited

Joyce Boutique Holdings Limited

Hotel Properties Limited

Greentown China Holdings Limited

Lee Wai Chung Nil Nil

Frank Y. C. Yung Nil Nil

Greg F. H. Seow Nil PartnerRe Limited

Colm M. McCarthy Nil Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation 

Limited

David T. E. Lim Nil Nil

Kevin K. Kwok Singapore Exchange Limited

Mapletree Greater China Commercial

Trust Management Ltd

Nil

Tan Bee Kim Nil Nil

Tan Zing Yan Nil Nil

The independence of each Director is reviewed annually by 

the NC. Each independent Director is required to complete a 

Director’s Independence Checklist annually to confirm his 

independence based on the guidelines as recommended by 

the Code. Each Director must also confirm in the Checklist 

whether he considers himself to be independent despite not 

having any relationship identified in the Code. Mr Frank Y. C. 

Yung has served the Board for more than nine years. In 

subjecting the independence of Mr Yung to particularly 

rigorous review, the NC placed emphasis on whether he has 

demonstrated strong independence in character and 

judgement in discharging his responsibility as a Director of 

the Company, and whether he is free from any interest, 

business or other relationship which could reasonably be 

perceived to interfere with the exercise of his independent 

judgement, with a view to the best interests of the Company. 

After due consideration and careful assessment, the NC and 

the Board noted that Mr Yung’s independence as a Director is 

not affected as he continues to exercise independent 

judgement and demonstrates objectivity in his deliberations 

in the interest of the shareholders and the Company. The NC 

is satisfied as to the independence of Messrs. Frank Y. C. 

Yung, Greg F. H. Seow, Colm M. McCarthy, David T. E. Lim 

and Kevin K. Kwok, all of whom do not have any relationship 

with the Company, its related corporations, its 10% 

shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be 

reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of their 

independent business judgement with a view to the best 

interests of the Company. 

Members of the Board are professionals from diverse 

backgrounds with varied experience in accounting, finance, 

business, management, property and banking among others.
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The Board considers its current size appropriate based  

on the Company’s present circumstances and taking into 

account the nature and scope of the Group’s businesses and 

operations. The Board also considers that its Directors 

possess the necessary competencies to lead and govern the  

Company effectively. 

The Board will review its board composition from time to 

time to ensure that it has an appropriate mix of Directors and 

to ensure good corporate governance.

Non-executive Directors are encouraged to constructively 

challenge and help develop proposals on strategy and review 

the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals 

and objectives and monitor the reporting of performance.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr Stephen T. H. Ng serves as the executive Chairman of the 

Company. The Chairman bears primary responsibility for the 

workings of the Board by ensuring effectiveness in all aspects 

of its role, exercising control over the quality, quantity and 

timeliness of information flow between the Board and 

Management and encouraging constructive relations, setting 

the agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available for 

the discussion of all items therein, promoting a culture of 

openness and debate at the Board, ensuring that the Directors 

receive complete, adequate and timely information, ensuring 

effective communication with shareholders, facilitating the 

effective contribution of non-executive Directors, overseeing 

the Group’s corporate governance and conduct, and promoting 

high standards in respect thereof. He also approves meeting 

schedules of the Board, agenda for Board meetings, and is 

advised of the meetings of the Board Committees. The Executive 

Directors have full executive responsibilities in the business 

directions and operational efficiency of the Group and are 

accountable to the Chairman.

The Company does not have a separate chief executive 

officer. Although it is a deviation from the Code which 

provides that there should be a clear division of responsibilities 

between the leadership of the Board and the executives 

responsible for managing the company’s business, the Board 

considers the current leadership structure to be efficient 

taking into account, inter alia, the current needs of the 

Company. The Board notes that the Chairman plays an 

instrumental role in developing the business of the Group 

and provides the Group with strong leadership and vision.  

It is satisfied that he is able to effectively discharge the duties 

of both positions. Additionally, there is a balance of power 

and authority given the composition of the Board which 

comprises experienced individuals of high-calibre with more 

than half of the Board comprising independent non-

executive Directors. 

In addition, with the establishment of various Board 

Committees with power and authority to perform key 

functions, and the putting in place of various internal controls 

to allow for effective Board oversight, the Board is of the view 

that there are adequate accountability safeguards to enable 

the Board to exercise objective independent decision-

making and to ensure an appropriate balance of power and 

authority within the spirit of good corporate governance.

Lead Independent Director

The Board has appointed Mr Frank Y. C. Yung as Lead 

Independent Director (Lead ID) to serve as a sounding board 

for the Chairman and also as an intermediary between the 

non-executive Directors and the Chairman. Due to the 

seniority and extensive experience of Mr Yung, the Board is of 

the view that he is qualified to perform the role of the  

Lead ID, notwithstanding that he is presently not a member 

of the NC.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board 

has delegated specific functions to the following committees:

Nominating Committee 

Board Membership

The NC comprises four Directors, namely, Messrs. Greg F. H. 

Seow, Chairman of the NC, Colm M. McCarthy, David T. E. Lim 

and Tan Bee Kim, the majority of whom are independent. The 

Chairman of the NC is an independent non-executive Director 

and is not associated with any substantial shareholder.

 

The principal functions of the NC are to review and make 

recommendations to the Board on all appointments,  

re-appointment and re-election of Directors, to evaluate the 

effectiveness and performance of the Board, its Committees 

and each individual Director, to review the training and 

professional development programmes for the Board, and to 

review the independence of each Director annually. Where 

relevant, the NC is guided by the recommendations of the 

Nominating Committee Guide and its written Terms  

of Reference.
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The NC works with the Board to determine the appropriate 

characteristics, skills and experience for the Board as a whole, 

as well as its individual members. The search and nomination 

process for new Directors, if any, will be through contacts 

and recommendations that go through the normal selection 

process to cast its net as wide as possible for the right 

candidate. When the need for a new Director arises, the NC, 

in consultation with the Board, determines the selection 

criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate 

expertise and experience. The NC then meets the shortlisted 

potential candidates before recommending the most  

suitable candidate to the Board for appointment as Director. 

The criteria used to assess new appointments are integrity, 

core competencies to meet the Group’s needs and 

complement the skills and competencies of existing Directors, 

an independent mindset and ability to commit time. 

A newly appointed Director is required by the Company’s 

Constitution to stand for election at the AGM immediately 

following his appointment. 

Annually, the NC reviews the Directors who are due to  

retire in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and 

make relevant recommendation on their re-election or  

re-appointment. All Directors are subject to re-election at 

regular intervals of at least once every three years. At each 

AGM, at least one-third of the Directors are required to retire 

and submit themselves for re-election.

The Board recognises the contribution of its independent 

Directors who, over time, have developed deep insight into 

the Group’s businesses and operations and who are therefore 

able to provide valuable contribution to the Group. As such, 

the Board has not set a fixed term of office for each of its 

independent Directors so as to be able to retain the services 

of the Directors as necessary.

Internal guidelines have been established to address the 

competing time commitments faced by Directors due to 

multiple board representations. All Directors are required to 

declare their board representation. The NC has reviewed the 

abilities of each Director and is satisfied that each Director is 

able to devote adequate time and attention to the affairs of the 

Company to fulfil his duties as a Director of the Company. The 

Directors’ attendance at Board and Board Committee meetings 

are set out on page 18. The NC conducts a review of the time 

commitment of each Director on an on-going basis. The Board 

believes that each Director should personally determine the 

demands of his competing directorships and obligations and 

assess how much time is available to serve on the Board 

effectively. Accordingly, the Board has reviewed and is satisfied 

with the time commitment of the Directors and has not made a 

determination of the maximum number of board representations 

a Director may hold. Currently, no alternate Directors have been 

appointed in respect of any of the Directors. 

Board Performance

The NC has an established appraisal process to assess the 

performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole, its 

Board Committees as well as to assess the contribution of 

individual Directors. Some of the assessment criteria for 

assessing the Board’s collective performance include size 

and composition of the Board, access to information, 

processes and accountability, objective performance criteria 

which allows comparison with the Company’s peers, as well 

as consideration of the Code and enhancement of long-

term shareholder value. Assessment criteria for individual 

Directors include factors such as Director’s attendance, 

participation and contribution at meetings, analytical skills, 

foresight and preparedness for meetings. 

On an annual basis, the Board undertakes an assessment of 

its performance. To aid this assessment, all Directors are 

required to complete a Board Evaluation Questionnaire to 

assess the effectiveness and performance of the Board as a 

whole, its Board Committees, his own and fellow Directors’ 

performance based on the assessment parameters adopted 

by the Board. The results of the evaluation process are 

reviewed and used by the NC to make recommendations  

to the Chairman of the Company, to effect continuous 

improvements to the effectiveness of the Board.

Access to Information

Management provides the Board with relevant, accurate  

and adequate information in a timely manner to enable 

Directors to make informed decisions to discharge their 

duties and responsibilities. 

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its 

responsibilities, the Management provides the Board with 

board papers and related materials, background or 

explanatory information relating to matters to be brought 

before the Board, copies of disclosure documents, monthly 

management reports, forecasts/budgets, financial statements 

and other relevant information of the Group. Explanatory 

information may also be in the form of briefings made by 

Management. In respect of budgets, material variance 

between the projections and actual results, if any, are also 

disclosed and explained. 

21



The Board has separate and independent access to 

Management and the Company Secretary at all times. In the 

furtherance of its duties, the Board may obtain independent 

professional advice if required and such cost will be borne by 

the Company.

The Company Secretary attends all Board and Board Committee 

meetings and ensures that Board procedures are followed. 

The Company Secretary, together with the Management, are 

responsible for ensuring the Company’s compliance with the 

regulations of the Companies Act, SGX-ST Listing Rules and 

all other rules, regulations and governance matters which are 

applicable to the Group. 

The Company Secretary ensures information flows within the 

Board and its Board Committees and between Management 

and non-executive Directors, and facilitates orientation and 

assists with professional development as required. 

The appointment of the Company Secretary is a matter for 

consideration by the Board as a whole. 

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Remuneration Committee 

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Level and Mix of Remuneration

Disclosure on Remuneration

The RC comprises three Directors, all of whom are 

independent non-executive Directors. The RC members are 

Messrs. Colm M. McCarthy, Chairman of the RC, Frank Y. C. 

Yung and Greg F. H. Seow.

The Chairman of the RC has many years of experience in senior 

management positions in leading banks and has indirect 

experience in the field of executive compensation, and is well- 

qualified to chair the RC. The Members of the RC collectively 

have strong management experience and expertise on 

remuneration issues. The RC has access to appropriate advice 

from the Head of Human Resource, who attends the RC 

meetings. The RC may seek external expert advice in the field of 

executive compensation if and when required, and shall ensure 

that existing relationships (if any) between the Company and 

the experts will not affect the independence and objectivity of 

the experts.

The function of the RC is to consider and determine, within 

its Terms of Reference, matters concerning remuneration for 

Directors and key executives. The RC also reviews the general 

remuneration framework for each Director and, where relevant, 

key management personnel, and specific remuneration packages 

for the Executive Directors and, where relevant, key management 

personnel, in consultation with the Chairman on behalf of the 

Board. In the process, the RC takes into account the performance 

of the Group, as well as individual Directors and key executives, 

aligning their interests with those of shareholders and linking 

rewards to corporate and individual performance. In its 

deliberations, the RC takes into account industry practices and 

norms in compensation. No Director is involved in deciding 

his own remuneration. 

The RC also reviews the Company’s obligations arising in the 

event of termination of the Executive Directors and key 

management personnel to ensure that such contracts of 

service contain fair and reasonable termination clauses 

which are not overly generous. The RC also aims to be fair 

and avoids rewarding poor performance.

Directors’ fees are set in accordance with a remuneration 

framework, comprising basic fees and fees for involvement in 

Board Committees. Pursuant to the Constitution of the 

Company, fees paid to non-executive Directors are a fixed 

sum and not by a commission on or a percentage of profits  

or turnover. The Company recognises the need to pay 

competitive fees to attract, motivate and retain Directors 

without being excessive and thereby maximising shareholders’ 

return and promoting the long-term success of the Company. 

All Directors’ fees are approved by shareholders at the AGM of 

the Company before they are paid.

The Company advocates a performance-based remuneration 

system that is flexible and responsive to the market and  

the performance of the Company and individual employees. 

The Company seeks to ensure that the level and mix of 

remuneration is competitive and relevant. 

The compensation package for the Executive Directors 

comprises salary, bonus and benefits-in-kind. The variable 

bonus element is based on the Company’s and individual 

performance that is designed to incentivise good 

performance, leading to value creation of the Company. 

Annual review of the compensation is carried out by the  

RC to ensure that the remuneration of the Executive Directors 

and key executives commensurate with their performance 

and that of the Company, having regard to the financial and 

commercial health and business needs of the Group 

including market trends. 

The Company has no employee share scheme or any short/

long-term incentive scheme in place. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

22



A breakdown, showing the level and mix of the Directors’ remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, is set 

out below:

NAME
DIRECTORS’ 

FEE
BASE/FIXED 

SALARY*

VARIABLE OR 
PERFORMANCE 

RELATED INCOME/
BONUS*

OTHER 
BENEFITS

TOTAL 
REMUNERATION 

$‘000

Stephen T. H. Ng 100% – – – 3

Paul Y. C. Tsui1 100% – – – 2

Lee Wai Chung2 100% – – – 1

Frank Y. C. Yung 100% – – – 86

Greg F. H. Seow 100% – – – 70

Colm M. McCarthy 97% – – 3%^ 72

David T. E. Lim 96% – – 4%^ 67

Kevin K. Kwok 96% – – 4%^ 62

Tan Bee Kim 1% 44% 53% 2%@ 907

Tan Zing Yan 1% 53% 44% 2%@ 673

1	 Paul Y. C. Tsui resigned as Director on 1 August 2015.
2	 Lee Wai Chung was appointed as Director on 1 August 2015.
*	 CPF contributions are included.
^	 For season parking.
@	 Includes company-owned vehicle, season parking, health screening, memberships/subscriptions, flexi-benefits etc. 

The Code requires the remuneration of at least the top five  

key executives who are not also Directors to be disclosed 

within bands of $250,000. The Company has two key 

executives who are also Directors of the Company as at the 

date of this report. There are no other executives who are 

relevant to this requirement. 

The Company does not employ any immediate family member  

of any Director. 

As the matters that are required for disclosure have been 

disclosed in this Report, the Board is of the opinion that a 

separate annual remuneration report is not necessary.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Accountability

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and 

understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, 

position and prospects. This responsibility extends to interim 

and other price-sensitive public reports, and reports to 

regulators (if required).

The Board also takes adequate steps to ensure compliance 

with legislative and regulatory requirements, including 

requirements under the listing rules of the securities 

exchange, by establishing procedures where appropriate.

In presenting our quarterly and full year financial results to 

shareholders, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a 

balanced and clear assessment of the Company’s financial 

position and prospects.

Management provides the Board with a continual flow of 

relevant information on a timely basis in order that it may 

effectively discharge its duties. On a monthly basis, Board 

members are provided with financial reports (including 

management accounts and such explanation and 

information) and other information on the Group’s 

performance for effective monitoring and decision-making.

Audit & Risk Management Committee

The ARMC comprises five Directors, all of whom are 

independent non-executive Directors. The members of 

the ARMC are Messrs. Frank Y. C. Yung, Chairman of the 

ARMC, Greg F. H. Seow, Colm M. McCarthy, David T. E. Lim 

and Kevin K. Kwok. The Board considers that Mr Frank Y. C. 

Yung, who has extensive experience in accounting, tax and 

financial management, is very well-qualified to chair  

the ARMC.
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Members of the ARMC are professionals with extensive experience 

in accounting, banking, business, investment and finance 

industries, and possess the requisite accounting and related 

financial management expertise to discharge the ARMC’s 

responsibilities. The ARMC is guided by its Terms of Reference, 

which clearly sets out its authority, functions and responsibilities.

Management is responsible for ensuring that the Group 

maintains a sound system of internal control to safeguard 

shareholders’ investments and assets of the Group and the 

financial reporting processes. The ARMC reviews and 

determines the Company’s levels of risk tolerance, adequacy 

of such controls, including internal, financial, operational and 

compliance controls, risk related policies and systems 

established by Management. The ARMC also oversees 

Management in the design, implementation and monitoring 

of the risk management and internal control systems. 

The ARMC meets on a quarterly basis and whenever required 

to review the quarterly and audited annual financial statements, 

SGXNET announcements, significant financial reporting 

issues and all related disclosures to shareholders before 

submission to the Board for approval. In the process, the 

ARMC reviews the key areas of Management’s judgement 

applied for adequate provisioning and disclosures, critical 

accounting policies and any significant legal or regulatory 

changes that would have an impact on the financial statements.

The external auditors are responsible for performing an 

independent audit of the Group’s financial statements in 

accordance with the financial reporting standards, and for 

issuing a report thereon. The ARMC’s responsibility is to 

monitor these processes.

The other functions of the ARMC includes reviewing 

interested person transactions to ensure compliance with 

the SGX-ST Listing Rules, reviewing with the external auditors 

the audit plan and evaluation of the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls including 

financial, operational, compliance and information 

technology controls, reviewing with the internal auditors the 

effectiveness of the internal audit function and evaluation of 

major internal controls, reviewing the scope and results of 

the external audit and the independence and objectivity of 

the external auditors, making recommendations to the Board 

on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment, 

re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, and 

approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of  

the external auditors. The ARMC also monitors proposed 

changes in accounting policies and reviews accounting 

implications of major transactions including significant 

financial reporting issues. 

In performing its functions, the ARMC meets with the external 

auditors and the internal auditors to discuss and evaluate the 

risk management and internal control systems of the Group 

(including financial, operational, compliance and information 

technology controls) and review the overall scope and 

results of both internal and external audit. At least once a year 

and on an as and when required basis, the ARMC meets with  

the external auditors and internal auditors, without the 

presence of Management, to review any matters that might 

be raised privately.

The Group’s external auditors, KPMG LLP, is an accounting 

firm registered with ACRA. The ARMC is satisfied that KPMG 

LLP and the audit engagement partner assigned to the audit 

have adequate resources and experience to meet its audit 

obligations. In this connection, the Company has complied 

with SGX-ST Listing Rules 712, and 715 read with 716. 

During the year under review, the aggregate of fees paid to 

the external auditors was $719,000, comprising $449,000 for 

audit services and $270,000 for non-audit services. The 

ARMC has reviewed the volume and nature of non-audit 

services provided by the external auditors during the year 

under review and is satisfied that their independence and 

objectivity have not been impaired by the provision of those 

services. The ARMC also reviewed the Audit Quality Indicators 

data submitted by the external auditors and is satisfied with 

the quality of work performed by KPMG LLP. The ARMC 

recommends to the Board the re-appointment of KPMG LLP 

as external auditors.

The ARMC is empowered to investigate any matters within  

its Terms of Reference and has full access to, and the co-

operation of Management. It has resources to enable it to 

discharge its function properly and full discretion to invite 

any Director or executive to attend its meetings. Where 

relevant, the ARMC is guided by the recommended best 

practices for audit committee as set out in the Guidebook for 

Audit Committees in Singapore issued by the Singapore’s 

Audit Committee Guidance Committee. The minutes of the 

ARMC are regularly submitted to the Board.

The Company has in place a Whistleblowing Policy which 

serves to encourage and provide a channel to employees 

and parties who have dealings with the Group to report in 
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good faith and in confidence, without fear of reprisals, 

concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting 

or other matters to the Chairman of the ARMC. Upon receipt 

of a complaint, the ARMC Chairman, in consultation with the 

Chairman of the Company, will identify a suitable person to 

carry out the investigation, according to the nature of the 

issue. Once the investigation is completed, a detailed report 

will be submitted to the ARMC Chairman and the Chairman 

of the Company to determine the remedial, disciplinary or 

other action to be taken and for reporting to the ARMC and 

the Board. The objective of such arrangement is to ensure 

independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 

follow-up action. The Company will treat all information 

received confidentially and protect the identity and the 

interest of all whistleblowers. Further, the Company does not 

disregard anonymous complaints but will give such 

complaints appropriate weight. The ARMC confirms that no 

reports have been received under the Whistleblowing Policy.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Company has instituted a system of internal controls for the 

Group. While no system can provide absolute assurance against 

material loss or financial misstatement, the Group’s internal 

financial controls are designed to provide reasonable assurance 

that assets are safeguarded, that proper accounting records are 

maintained, and that financial information used within the business 

and for publication are reliable. In designing these controls, 

Management has had regard to the risks to which the business 

is exposed, the likelihood of such risks occurring and the costs 

of protecting against them. The Company seeks to improve 

internal control and risk management on an on-going basis to 

ensure that they remain sound and relevant.

The Board has in place a set of internal controls which sets 

out approval limits for expenditure, investments and 

divestments and cheque signatory arrangements. Approval 

sub-limits are also provided at management and committee 

levels to facilitate operational efficiency.

The Board, supported by the ARMC, ensures that the 

Company has a robust risk management system to safeguard 

shareholders’ interests. An Enterprise Risk Management 

Framework has been established to formalise and document 

the internal processes to enable key risks within the Group  

to be identified, assessed, monitored, managed and 

evaluated. The Company’s approach to risk management is 

set out in the “Risk Management” section on page 38 of the 

Annual Report. 

During the year under review, the Company’s external and 

internal auditors conducted annual review of the effectiveness 

of the Company’s material internal controls, including 

financial, operational and compliance controls and these are 

reported to the ARMC. Any material non-compliance and 

recommendation for improvement are reported to the 

ARMC. The ARMC, on behalf of the Board, also reviewed the 

effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls in 

light of key business and financial risks affecting its businesses, 

through discussion with Management and the auditors. The 

Board reviewed and assessed the assurance from the Senior 

Executive Director and the Executive Director that, for the 

financial year under review, the financial records have been 

properly maintained and the financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the Company’s operations and finances, and 

that the Company maintains an effective risk management 

and internal control system. Based on our assessment of the 

reports submitted by the external and internal auditors, along 

with the various controls put in place by Management, the 

Board, with the concurrence of the ARMC, is of the opinion 

that the Group’s internal controls and risk management 

processes addressing financial, operational, compliance and 

information technology risks were adequate as at 31 

December 2015. The Board, however, notes that no system 

of internal control can provide absolute assurance against 

the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in 

decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Internal Audit

The Group has established an Internal Audit (IA) function 

reporting directly to the ARMC. The IA activities are 

outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PWC), an 

international auditing firm. The audit approach adopted by 

PWC is consistent with the Standards for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing promulgated by the Institute of 

Internal Auditors. 

The Group’s IA is further supported by the Internal Audit  

unit and Project Cost Audit unit (PCA) of Wharf Limited, a 

subsidiary of our ultimate holding company, Wheelock and 

Company Limited. Members of the Internal Audit unit and PCA 

of Wharf Limited are qualified and experienced personnel.

The audit work performed by PCA includes tender and 

contract audit, project cost audit and project procedure audit 

in the Group, and identifies issues for corrective actions by 

the Management. In addition, PCA prepares, on a quarterly 

basis, reports on the results of its audit of the Group’s projects 
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for review and evaluation by the ARMC. The internal auditors 

have unfettered access to all the Group’s documents, 

records, properties and personnel, including access to the 

ARMC. The ARMC and the internal auditors have access to 

PCA on project matters relating to the Group. 

The internal audit schedules and scope of internal audit  

work each year are determined in consultation with, but 

independent of, Management and are submitted to the 

ARMC for approval. The internal auditors report their audit 

findings to the ARMC and Management. The ARMC reviews 

and discusses with Management the significant internal audit 

observations and Management’s response thereto. 

The ARMC met with the external auditors and the internal 

auditors without the presence of Management during the year. 

The ARMC is satisfied that the internal auditors have adequate 

resources to perform its functions satisfactorily.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has established procedures to ensure that  

all transactions with interested persons are reported in a  

timely manner to the ARMC and that the transactions are on 

an arm’s length basis. All interested person transactions are 

subject to review by the ARMC, to ensure compliance with  

established procedures. 

Particulars of interested person transactions for the year 

under review which are disclosed under Rule 907 of the SGX-

ST Listing Manual, are as follows:

NAME OF 
INTERESTED 
PERSON

AGGREGATE VALUE 
OF ALL INTERESTED 

PERSON 
TRANSACTIONS 

DURING THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR 
UNDER REVIEW 

(EXCLUDING 
TRANSACTIONS LESS 
THAN $100,000 AND 

TRANSACTIONS 
CONDUCTED UNDER 

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MANDATE PURSUANT 

TO RULE 920)

AGGREGATE VALUE 
OF ALL INTERESTED 

PERSON 
TRANSACTIONS 

CONDUCTED 
UNDER 

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
MANDATE 

PURSUANT  
TO RULE 920 
(EXCLUDING 

TRANSACTIONS LESS 
THAN $100,000)

Wharf China 

Holdings Limited $953,000 N.A.

The transaction was for project management services and 

project consultancy and design services relating to the 

Group’s project in the People’s Republic of China. 

Material Contracts

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, there were no 

material contracts entered into by the Company and its 

subsidiaries for the benefit of any Director or controlling 

shareholder, either still subsisting or entered into since the 

end of the previous financial year. 

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholder Rights

Communication with Shareholders

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company 

pursuant to the SGX-ST Listing Rules and the Companies Act, 

it is the Board’s policy that shareholders be informed promptly 

of all major developments that impact the Group.

The Company does not practise selective disclosure of material 

information. Information is communicated to shareholders 

on a timely basis through SGXNET. Communication is also 

made through annual reports that are issued to all shareholders 

within the mandatory period, quarterly and full year financial 

statements, notice of and explanatory memoranda for  

annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings 

and announcements through SGXNET. As testament to the 

Company’s commitment to be environmentally responsible, 

the annual report and addendum are primarily available in 

electronic form. The full annual report is also available to 

shareholders on the corporate website or upon request.

The Company maintains a corporate website at  

www.wheelockproperties.com.sg with an investor relations 

section through which shareholders are able to access up-

to-date information on the Group. The website provides 

corporate announcements, annual reports, and profiles of 

the Group, the Board and Board Committees. The latest 

annual report, financial results and announcements are 

posted on the website following their release to the market, 

to ensure fair and equal dissemination to shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Constitution of the Company currently allows a 

shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to 

attend and vote in his stead at general meetings, and 

shareholders who are a “relevant intermediary” (as defined 

under Section 181 of the Companies Act) may also appoint 

multiple proxies pursuant to the Companies Act. The Company 

encourages shareholder participation at general meetings. 

Information on shareholder meeting is disseminated through 

notice in the annual reports or circular sent to shareholders. 

The notices are also released through SGXNET and  

published in The Business Times, as well as posted on the  

Company’s website. 

General meetings of the Company represent the principal 

forum for dialogue and interaction with all shareholders, and 

for the Company to solicit and understand the views of  

the shareholders. At each AGM, the Board presents the 

progress and performance of the Group’s businesses and 

every matter requiring approval is proposed as a separate 

resolution. Shareholders present are given an opportunity  

to clarify or direct questions on issues pertaining to the 

proposed resolutions before the resolutions are voted on. The 

Directors, chairpersons of the Board Committees and the 

Company’s external auditors are usually present to address  

shareholders’ questions. 

The Company conducts electronic poll voting to ensure 

greater transparency and efficiency in the voting process and 

results. All polls are conducted in the presence of independent 

scrutineers. The results showing the number of votes cast for 

and against each resolution and the respective percentages 

are announced via SGXNET on the same day of the general 

meeting. All minutes of general meetings, which includes 

substantial and relevant comments or queries from 

shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting and 

responses from the Board and Management, are available to 

shareholders for inspection upon requests.

The issue of payment of dividend is deliberated by the Board 

annually, having regard to various factors that include the 

Group’s profit level, cash position and future cash needs. 

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Group has also adopted a code of conduct, in line with 

SGX-ST Listing Rule 1207(19), to provide guidance to 

Directors and employees dealing in the Company’s shares. 

The code of conduct relates, inter alia, to insider trading 

prohibition under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 

(SFA), the disclosure requirements of the SGX-ST Listing 

Rules and the prohibition of Directors and employees and 

their connected persons from dealing in the Company’s 

securities for a period of one month before the announcement 

of the Company’s quarterly and full year results, or if they are 

in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of 

the Group. They are also discouraged from dealing in the 

Company’s shares on short-term consideration.

Directors are required to report to the Company Secretary 

whenever they deal in the Company’s shares and the latter 

will make the necessary announcements in accordance with 

the requirements of the SGX-ST Listing Rules and the SFA. 

CODE OF CONDUCT & ETHICS FOR EMPLOYEES

The Company has a code of conduct & ethics for employees 

that sets the standards and ethical conduct expected of 

employees covering confidentiality of information, conflict 

of interest, gifts, gratuities or bribes and dishonest conduct. 

Employees are required to observe and maintain high 

standards of integrity, as well as compliance with laws and 

regulations, and company policies. 
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DISCLOSURE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

General

GENERAL (a)	 Has the Company complied with all the principles 

and guidelines of the Code? If not, please state the 

specific deviations and the alternative corporate 

governance practices adopted by the Company 

in lieu of the recommendations in the Code.

(b)	 In what respect do these alternative corporate 

governance practices achieve the objectives of 

the principles and conform to the guidelines in 

the Code?

The Company has substantially complied with the 

principles and guidelines of the Code.

The specific deviations and alternative practices 

adopted by the Company are as follows:

Number of Board Representation and Fixed Term

The Board has not: 

(i)	 made a determination of the maximum number 

of board representation a Director may hold; and

(ii)	 set a fixed term of office for each of its independent 

Directors.

The Board believes that each Director should personally 

determine the demands of his competing directorships 

and obligations and assess how much time is available 

to serve on the Board effectively. The Nominating 

Committee (NC) and the Board have reviewed and 

are satisfied with the time commitment of the Directors. 

As such, the Board has not made a determination of 

the maximum number of board representations a 

Director may hold. 

Further, the Board recognises the contribution of  

its independent Directors who, over time, have 

developed deep insight into the Group’s businesses 

and operations and who are therefore able to provide 

valuable contribution to the Group. As such, the 

Board has not set a fixed term of office for each of 

its independent Directors so as to be able to retain 

the services of the Directors as necessary.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

General (cont’d)

GENERAL
(cont’d)

(a)	 Has the Company complied with all the principles 
and guidelines of the Code? If not, please state the 
specific deviations and the alternative corporate 
governance practices adopted by the Company 
in lieu of the recommendations in the Code.

(b)	 In what respect do these alternative corporate 
governance practices achieve the objectives of 
the principles and conform to the guidelines in 
the Code?

No Separate Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a separate chief executive 
officer. Although it is a deviation from the Code which 
provides that there should be a clear division of 
responsibilities between the leadership of the Board 
and the executives responsible for managing the 
company’s business, the Board considers the current 
leadership structure to be efficient taking into account, 
inter alia, the current needs of the Company. The 
Board notes that the Chairman plays an instrumental 
role in developing the business of the Group and 
provides the Group with strong leadership and vision. 
It is satisfied that he is able to effectively discharge 
the duties of both positions. Additionally, there is a 
balance of power and authority given the composition 
of the Board which comprises experienced individuals 
of high-calibre, with more than half of the Board 
comprising independent non-executive Directors.

Lead Independent Director not a member of the 
Nominating Committee

The Board has appointed Mr Frank Y. C. Yung as Lead 
Independent Director to serve as a sounding board for 
the Chairman and also as an intermediary between 
the non-executive Directors and the Chairman.  
Due to the seniority and extensive experience of  
Mr Yung, the Board is of the view that he is qualified to 
perform the role of the Lead Independent Director, 
notwithstanding that he is presently not a member of 
the NC.

Review of Remuneration Packages

The Remuneration Committee (RC) reviews the 
general remuneration framework for each Director 
and, where relevant, key management personnel, 
and specific remuneration packages of Executive 
Directors and, where relevant, key management 
personnel, in consultation with the Chairman on 
behalf of the Board. The remuneration packages of 
non-executive Directors are reviewed separately by 
the Board, as the members of the RC are all non-
executive Directors.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Board Responsibility

GUIDELINE 
1.5

What are the types of material transactions which 
require approval from the Board?

The Board reviews and approves major investment 
and divestment proposals, material acquisitions, disposals 
and funding decisions, major commitments relating 
to the Group’s operations, major policies on key areas 
of operations, bank facilities, annual budget, and the 
release of the Group’s quarterly and full year results. 

Members of the Board

GUIDELINE 
2.6

(a)	 What is the Board’s policy with regard to diversity 
in identifying director nominees?

(b)	 Please state whether the current composition of the 
Board provides diversity on each of the following 
– skills, experience, gender and knowledge of 
the Company, and elaborate with numerical data 
where appropriate.

(c)	 What steps has the Board taken to achieve the 
balance and diversity necessary to maximise  
its effectiveness?

(a)	 The NC works with the Board to determine the 
appropriate characteristics, skills and experience  
for the Board as a whole as well as its  
individual members.

(b)	 The Board consists of nine members (eight male 
and one female), five of whom are independent 
Directors. Members of the Board are professionals 
from diverse backgrounds with varied experience 
in accounting, finance, business, management, 
property and banking, among others.

(c)	 The Board considers its current size appropriate 
based on the Company’s present circumstances 
and taking into account the nature and scope 
of the Group’s businesses and operations. The 
Board also considers that its Directors possess 
the necessary competencies to lead and govern 
the Company effectively.

GUIDELINE 
4.6

Please describe the board nomination process for 
the Company in the last financial year for (i) selecting 
and appointing new directors and (ii) re-electing 
incumbent directors.

(i)	 During the last financial year, the Board with the 
recommendation of the NC, appointed Mr Lee 
Wai Chung as a non-executive non-independent 
Director. The criteria used by the NC to assess the 
appointment are integrity, core competencies to 
meet the Group’s needs and complement the 
skills and competencies of existing Directors, and 
ability to commit time. 

(ii)	 Annually, the Board undertakes an assessment 
of its performance and those of its Committees 
and Directors. In addition, the NC reviews the 
Directors who are due to retire in accordance 
with the Company’s Constitution and make 
relevant recommendation on their re-election or  
re-appointment. All Directors are subject to  
re-election at regular intervals of at least once 
every three years. 

DISCLOSURE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Members of the Board (cont’d)

GUIDELINE 
1.6

(a)	 Are new directors given formal training? If not, 
please explain why.

(b)	 What are the types of information and training 
provided to (i) new directors and (ii) existing directors 
to keep them up-to-date?

(a)	 Appropriate external training in areas such as financial, 
legal and industry-specific knowledge is arranged for 
new Directors, where necessary.

(b)	 Upon appointment, each Director is briefed on the 
Group’s businesses, directions and governance 
policies and provided with a formal letter setting out 
his duties and obligations. Directors are also provided 
with materials containing essential information 
about the Group, relevant laws and regulations. 
Appropriate external training in areas such as financial, 
legal and industry-specific knowledge is arranged  
where necessary.

	 Directors are encouraged to attend training and 
seminars funded by the Company, particularly on 
relevant new laws, governance practices, updates/
developments in regulatory framework including 
those organised by the Singapore Institute of 
Directors (SID), Singapore Exchange Limited and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. During the year, 
Directors attended in-house training on changes 
to the Companies Act conducted by Messrs. Lee 
& Lee, briefings by Auditors on changes to the 
Financial Reporting Standards and seminars organised  
by SID.

GUIDELINE 
4.4

(a)	 What is the maximum number of listed company 
board representations that the Company has 
prescribed for its directors? What are the reasons 
for this number?

(b)	 If a maximum number has not been determined, 
what are the reasons?

(c)	 What are the specific considerations in deciding on 
the capacity of directors?

(a)	 The Board has not made a determination of the 
maximum number of board representations a Director 
may hold. 

(b)	 The Board believes that each Director should 
personally determine the demands of his competing 
directorships and obligations and assess how much 
time is available to serve on the Board effectively. 
The NC conducts a review of the time commitment 
of each Director on an on-going basis. The Board is 
satisfied with the time commitment of its Directors.

(c)	 The factors taken into consideration in deciding the 
capacity of Directors include Directors’ attendance, 
participation, contribution at meetings, preparedness 
for meetings, etc.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Board Evaluation

GUIDELINE 
5.1

(a) 	What was the process upon which the Board 

reached the conclusion on its performance for 

the financial year?

(b)	 Has the Board met its performance objectives?

(a)	 On an annual basis, the Board undertakes an 

assessment of its performance. To aid this 

assessment, all Directors are required to complete 

a Board Evaluation Questionnaire to assess the 

effectiveness and performance of the Board as a 

whole, its Board Committees, his own and fellow 

Directors’ performance based on the assessment 

parameters adopted by the Board. The results of 

the evaluation process are reviewed and used 

by the NC, to make recommendations to the 

Chairman of the Company, to effect continuous 

improvements to the effectiveness of the Board.

	 Some of the assessment criteria for assessing 

the Board’s collective performance include 

size and composition of the Board, access to 

information, processes and accountability, 

objective performance criteria, which allows 

comparison with the Company’s peers, as well 

as consideration of the Code and enhancement 

of long-term shareholder value. Assessment 

criteria for individual Directors include factors 

such as Director’s attendance, participation and 

contribution at meetings, analytical skills, foresight 

and preparedness for meetings. 

(b)	 The Board and its Committees are operating 

effectively. 

Independence of Directors

GUIDELINE 
2.1

Does the Company comply with the guideline on the 

proportion of independent directors on the Board? 

If not, please state the reasons for the deviation and 

the remedial action taken by the Company.

The Board comprises more than 50% of independent 

non-executive Directors. The Company is in compliance 

with the recommendation of the Code.

DISCLOSURE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Independence of Directors (cont’d)

GUIDELINE 
2.3

(a)	 Is there any director who is deemed to be independent 

by the Board, notwithstanding the existence of 

a relationship as stated in the Code that would 

otherwise deem him not to be independent? If so, 

please identify the director and specify the nature of  

such relationship.

(b)	 What are the Board’s reasons for considering him 

independent? Please provide a detailed explanation.

All our independent Directors do not have any 

relationships as stated in the Code. 

GUIDELINE 
2.4

Has any independent director served on the Board 

for more than nine years from the date of his first 

appointment? If so, please identify the director and 

set out the Board’s reasons for considering him 

independent.

Mr Frank Y. C. Yung has served the Board for more 

than nine years. 

Following the NC’s annual review, the NC and the 

Board noted that notwithstanding Mr Yung has served 

the Board for more than nine years, Mr Yung’s 

independence as a Director is not affected as he 

continues to exercise independent judgement and 

demonstrates objectivity in his deliberations in the 

interest of the shareholders and the Company.

Disclosure on Remuneration

GUIDELINE 
9.2

Has the Company disclosed each director’s and the 

CEO’s remuneration as well as a breakdown (in 

percentage or dollar terms) into base/fixed salary, 

variable or performance-related income/bonuses, 

benefits-in-kind, stock options granted, share-based 

incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives? 

If not, what are the reasons for not disclosing so?

The Directors’ remuneration are disclosed on page 

23 of the Annual Report.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Disclosure on Remuneration (cont’d)

GUIDELINE 
9.3

(a)	 Has the Company disclosed each key management 

personnel’s remuneration, in bands of $250,000 

or in more detail, as well as a breakdown (in 

percentage or dollar terms) into base/fixed salary, 

variable or performance-related income/ bonuses, 

benefits-in-kind, stock options granted, share-

based incentives and awards, and other long-term 

incentives? If not, what are the reasons for not 

disclosing so?

(b)	 Please disclose the aggregate remuneration paid 

to the top five key management personnel (who 

are not directors or the CEO).

The Company has two key executives who are also 

Directors of the Company and their remuneration has 

been disclosed on page 23 of the Annual Report. 

There are no other executives who are relevant to  

this requirement. 

GUIDELINE 
9.4

Is there any employee who is an immediate family 

member of a director or the CEO, and whose 

remuneration exceeds $50,000 during the year?  

If so, please identify the employee and specify the 

relationship with the relevant director or the CEO.

The Company does not have any employee who is 

an immediate family member of a Director.

GUIDELINE 
9.6

(a)	 Please describe how the remuneration received by 

executive directors and key management personnel 

has been determined by the performance criteria.

(b)	 What were the performance conditions used to 

determine their entitlement under the short-term 

and long-term incentive schemes?

(c)	 Were all of these performance conditions met? 

If not, what were the reasons?

(a)	 The compensation package for the Executive 

Directors comprises salary, bonus and benefits-

in-kind. The variable bonus element is based on 

the Company’s and individual performance that 

is designed to incentivise good performance 

leading to value creation of the Company. 

(b)	 The Company has no employee share scheme or 

any short/long-term incentive scheme in place.

DISCLOSURE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Risk Management and Internal Controls

GUIDELINE 
6.1

What types of information does the Company provide 

to independent directors to enable them to understand 

its business, the business and financial environment 

as well as the risks faced by the Company? How 

frequently is the information provided?

The Board is updated regularly on risk management, 

corporate governance and key changes in the relevant 

regulatory requirements and financial reporting standards 

by the Auditors, Management and Company Secretary.

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its 

responsibilities, the Management provides the Board 

with board papers and related materials, background 

or explanatory information relating to matters to be 

brought before the Board, copies of disclosure 

documents, monthly management reports, forecasts/

budgets, financial statements and other relevant 

information of the Group. Explanatory information 

may also be in the form of briefings made by Management. 

In respect of budgets, material variance between the 

projections and actual results, if any, are also disclosed 

and explained. 

GUIDELINE 
13.1

Does the Company have an internal audit function? 
If not, please explain why.

The Group has established an Internal Audit function 
reporting directly to the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC). The Internal Audit activities are 
outsourced to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an 
international auditing firm. 

The Group’s Internal Audit is further supported by 
the Internal Audit unit and Project Cost Audit unit 
(PCA) of Wharf Limited, a subsidiary of our ultimate 
holding company, Wheelock and Company Limited. 
Members of the Internal Audit unit and PCA of Wharf 
Limited are qualified and experienced personnel.
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Risk Management and Internal Controls (cont’d)

GUIDELINE 
11.3

(a)	 In relation to the major risks faced by the Company, 
including financial, operational, compliance, 
information technology and sustainability, please 
state the bases for the Board’s view on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls and risk management systems.

(b)	 In respect of the past 12 months, has the Board 
received assurance from the CEO and the CFO 
as well as the internal auditor that: (i) the financial 
records have been properly maintained and the 
financial statements give true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances; and (ii) the 
Company’s risk management and internal control 
systems are effective? If not, how does the Board 
assure itself of points (i) and (ii) above?

(a)	 Based on the ARMC and Board’s assessment of 
the reports submitted by the external and internal 
auditors along with the various controls put in place 
by Management, the Board, with the concurrence 
of the ARMC, is of the opinion that the Group’s 
internal controls and risk management processes 
addressing financial, operational, compliance and 
information technology risks were adequate as at  
31 December 2015.

(b)	 Assurance has been received from the Senior 
Executive Director and the Executive Director that, 
for the financial year under review, the financial 
records have been properly maintained and the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances, and that the 
Company maintains an effective risk management 
and internal control system.

GUIDELINE 
12.6

(a)	 Please provide a breakdown of the fees paid in 
total to the external auditors for audit and non-
audit services for the financial year.

(b)	 If the external auditors have supplied a substantial 
volume of non-audit services to the Company, 
please state the bases for the Audit Committee’s 
view on the independence of the external auditors.

(a)	 During the year under review, the aggregate of  
fees paid to the external auditors was $719,000, 
comprising $449,000 for audit services and $270,000  
for non-audit services.

(b)	 The ARMC has reviewed the volume and nature 
of non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors during the year under review and is 
satisfied that their independence and objectivity 
have not been impaired by the provision of  
those services.

DISCLOSURE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Guideline Questions How has the Company complied?

Communication with Shareholders

GUIDELINE 
15.4

(a)	 Does the Company regularly communicate with 
shareholders and attend to their questions? How 
often does the Company meet with institutional 
and retail investors?

(b)	 Is this done by a dedicated investor relations team 
(or equivalent)? If not, who performs this role?

(c)	 How does the Company keep shareholders 
informed of corporate developments, apart from 
SGXNET announcements and the annual report?

(a)	 Information is communicated to shareholders on 
a timely basis through SGXNET. Communication is 
also made through annual reports that are issued 
to all shareholders within the mandatory period, 
quarterly and full year financial statements, notice 
of and explanatory memoranda for annual general 
meetings and extraordinary general meetings, and 
announcements through SGXNET. General meetings 
of the Company represent the principal forum for 
dialogue and interaction with all shareholders, 
and for the Company to solicit and understand 
the views of the shareholders. 

(b)	 Our Executive Director, Mr Tan Zing Yan, is 
responsible for Investor Relations in addition 
to other responsibilities. 

(c)	 Apart from SGXNET announcements and annual 
report, shareholders are informed of corporate 
developments through press releases and annual 
general meetings which represent the principal 
forum for dialogue with all shareholders. 

GUIDELINE 
15.5

If the Company is not paying any dividends for the 
financial year, please explain why.

The Directors have recommended a first and final 
tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 6 cents per share 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board of Directors is responsible for the governance of 
risks and it recognises the importance of sound internal 
controls and risk management practices as part of good 
corporate governance that safeguards shareholders’ interests 
and the Group’s assets. Assisted by the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee (ARMC), the Board supervises and 
provides valuable advice to Management in formulating and 
applying risk policies and guidelines. 

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Company has in place an Enterprise Risk Management 
(ERM) Framework to enable the Group to manage risks in an 
integrated, systematic and consistent manner. The procedures 
and processes within the framework allow the Group to 
regularly review the significance of its key risks, and to 
consider the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s 
system of internal controls to limit, mitigate and monitor 
identified risks. The risk management process in place covers, 
inter alia, financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology risks faced by the Group. 

BOARD ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

The following is an overview of the framework by which the 
Board obtains assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal controls which 
include, but is not limited to, financial, operational, compliance 
and information technology controls.

Risk Assessment workshops facilitated by Pricewaterhouse-
Coopers LLP were conducted half yearly. Following the 
workshops, key risks of the Group are deliberated by 
Management and reported to the ARMC. 

Complementing the ERM Framework is a Group-wide system 
of internal controls, which includes policies and procedures, 
proper segregation of duties, approval procedures and 
authorities, as well as checks-and-balances built into the 
business processes. 

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
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To ensure that internal controls and risk management 
processes are adequate and effective, the ARMC is assisted 
by various professional service providers. External auditors 
provide assurance over the risk of material misstatements in 
the Group’s financial statements. Internal auditors provide 
assurance that controls over the key risks faced by the Group 
are adequate and effective. 

Risk management is an integral part of strategic, operational 
and financial decision-making processes at all levels of the 
Group. Despite best efforts, the Group recognises that risks 
can never be entirely eliminated, especially in an evolving 
landscape of uncertainties and vulnerabilities. 

Key risks faced by the Group are as follows:
 

Business/Strategic Risks 

In the course of its activities, the Group is exposed to business 
risks relating to business factors such as macroeconomic 
conditions, competition and the changing regulatory 
environment. It is the Group’s primary consideration to 
evaluate such risks to enhance overall corporate growth. 

Each investment proposal is evaluated according to the 
corporate strategies and investment objectives and is subject 
to investment risk assessment which encompasses due 
diligence, feasibility studies and sensitivity analysis of key 
investment assumption and variables. 

Close monitoring of the changes in the business, economic, 
political, regulatory and competitive landscape in the 
countries where the Group operates gives the Management 
better insights into impending developments. 

Financial Risks 

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including 
interest rates, foreign currency, credit and liquidity risks. The 
management of financial risks is outlined under Note 31 of 
the Notes to the Financial Statements. 

Operational Risks 

The Group’s development and investment properties are 
subject to operational risks that are common to the industries 
and to the particular countries in which the projects are 
situated. It is recognised that operational risks cannot be 
eliminated completely and the Group must always weigh the 
cost and benefit in managing such risks. The Group therefore 
adopts a risk-based approach to managing operational risks. 
Key functions in the Group are guided by standard operating 
procedures, limits on authority and reporting frameworks. 

Project management risks

The Group adopts a project management process to manage 
project management risks, to ensure that project cost, quality 
and time objectives are met. There are stringent pre-
qualification procedures to appoint well-qualified vendors 
for projects where key criteria such as vendors’ relevant track 
records and financial performance are assessed. Project 
Managers are regularly on-site to monitor projects’ progress 
to manage potential risks of delays, poor workmanship and 
cost overruns. 

Compliance Risks

The Group ensures that compliance risks are adequately 
addressed as part of the risk management framework. 
Management is kept apprised of relevant changes to the law 
and regulations and takes adequate steps to ensure 
continuing compliance. When necessary, external expertise 
is sought. The Group also maintains close working 
relationships with business associates and regulators to  
keep abreast of changes in the regulatory framework and  
business environment. 

Fraud & Corruption Risks

The Group is committed to the highest standards of integrity 
and has no tolerance for any fraud, corruption and bribery in 
the conduct of its business activities. Consistent with this 
commitment, the Group has in place the employee code of 
conduct, insider trading and whistleblowing policies and 
financial authority limit to mitigate the risk of fraud, corruption 
and misconduct by staff. 

Information Technology (IT) Risks

As IT risks are potentially disruptive to the Group’s businesses, 
the operating and maintenance of the Group’s IT system  
and software have been identified as part of the Group’s 
essential operations and processes. To safeguard the IT 
system from any critical failures, the Group has engaged an 
external IT specialist to conduct periodic review and testing. 
Policies that govern end-user computing and the 
safeguarding of information are also implemented and 
enforced company-wide. 

PROACTIVE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group will continue to review its risk management 
methodology, system and processes to ensure that its risk 
management system remains adequate and effective.
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COMPANY’S MESSAGE

At Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited, we are committed 
to conduct our business in a socially-responsible and  
sustainable manner. 

With a strong focus on economic viability, environmental 
protection and social responsibility, the Company is steadfast 
in adopting and implementing sustainable policies, strategies 
and practices to perform its business operations and  
corporate activities. 

We strive to be a good corporate citizen to deliver growth  
and long-term value for our business and society, develop  
our employees to their fullest potential, give back to the 
community and adopt best practices to protect and preserve 
the environment. 

Our business stakeholders are identified as follows:

OUR BUSINESS PHILOSOPHY

The Group recognises the importance of adhering to  
sound governance practices and processes to enhance 
shareholder value.

Wheelock Properties conducts its business to the highest 
standards of openness, integrity and accountability at all 
times. The Group does not tolerate bribery or corruption, 
and acts professionally, fairly and with integrity in all its 
business dealings and relationships, wherever it operates.

We have in place policies and systems to counter and deter 
unprofessional conduct, such as our whistleblowing policy to 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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allow employees to report improprieties in good faith, without 
fear of reprisals and to ensure appropriate follow-up action.

Since FY2014, we have established an Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework and put in place a robust risk 
management process to safeguard shareholders’ interests. 
We have identified our operational, financial, compliance and 
information technology risks. These risks have been assessed, 
managed and evaluated across all business units to enable 
the Group to manage them in an integrated, systematic and 
consistent manner.

The Group strives to continuously maintain its high standard 
of corporate governance by following established sound 
policies and risk management practices in all its strategic, 
operational and financial decision-making processes at  
all levels. 

Through good and transparent corporate governance, we 
are committed to safeguard shareholders’ interest and the 
Group’s assets, so as to drive long-term sustainable growth 
and value creation in our business. 

OUR PEOPLE 

At Wheelock Properties, we believe that cultivating a strong 
and positive workplace culture is important to achieve a safe 
and accident-free working environment. 

An indispensable force to our continued success, we value 
our staff as a vital asset to the business. The Company is 
committed to retain talents and provide employee training 
and development to nurture a competent and engaged 
workforce that will drive organisational growth. 

The Company values people from all backgrounds and believes 
diversity makes a community stronger and more inclusive. 

Since 2014, bi-annual teambuilding sessions are held to allow 
staff and Management to get-together and foster greater 
camaraderie through game challenges and interaction across 
departments.

Wheelock Properties supports a work-life friendly environment 
to enable staff to balance personal and work commitments, for 
a more vibrant and productive workforce. To promote employee 
health and wellness, various social events and recreational 
activities as well as community engagement events are 
organised for staff participation throughout the year. 
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OUR COMMUNITY

A company with strong social ethos, Wheelock Properties is 
actively involved in socially-responsible initiatives to positively 
impact communities where it conducts its operations, contribute 
back to society and foster greater care for our community.

For the 2015 Wheelock We Care programme, the Company 
partnered with Club Rainbow (Singapore), a charitable organisation 
that provides support services in the five core areas of emotional 
support, educational help, social support, financial assistance 
and informational support for the families of chronically-ill 
children. In June, 20 of our staff volunteers brought 27 Club 
Rainbow children with their families and caregivers to visit the 
S.E.A. Aquarium at the Resorts World Sentosa Singapore. Led 
by the S.E.A. Aquarium Mariners, the children enjoyed a guided 
tour in an interactive learning session of the marine animal 
and plant collection in the Aquarium. 

For the second year running, the Company partnered with 
Food Bank Singapore in September to distribute 200 food 
bundles to support the elderly from SASCO DACE, who are in 
early/middle-stages of dementia. Besides packing and 
distributing food bundles with essentials such as rice, oil and 
canned food to the elderly, our volunteers also played bingo 
games and hosted a buffet luncheon for the elderly folks. 

As part of the SG50 Golden Jubilee in Singapore, the 

Company participated in the National Parks Board’s Clean & 

Green SG50 Mass Tree Planting activity in October, where 

staff and family members planted 50 trees at the Ang Mo Kio 

Town Garden East. The greening activity was meaningful and 

it allowed participants to cultivate a deeper appreciation of 

Singapore as a City in a Garden, with its many green spaces 

and natural heritage.

To round-up the SG50 celebrations, staff and their families 

also took part in the SG50 Jubilee Big Walk in November.  

The 5km route took the participants on a commemorative 

trail through historic and iconic locations within the historic 

Civic District and Marina Bay area, where some of the 

landmarks along the route include the new National Gallery 

and Jubilee Bridge, Victoria Theatre and Concert Hall, as well 

as The Esplanade.
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On the corporate front, the Company continues to donate to 

charity through the “Art of Giving” art outreach-cum-charity 

programme. Held with the LaSalle School of Design, the  

programme is part of a three-year commitment with the school 

to support and nurture up and coming local artists. Fine Arts 

student, Mr Terry Wee, received the most number of public votes 

at an exhibition held at Scotts Square between 13 November 

and 20 December 2015. As the 2015 winner of the “Art of 

Giving” exhibition, Mr Wee received the Wheelock Art Prize of 

$5,000 cash and the nominated charity, Food from the Heart, 

received a $10,000 cash donation from the Company. 

Since 2014, the rooftop garden at Wheelock Place mall has 

been flourishing above the retail and food and beverage 

outlets, under the care of Edible Garden City, a three-year-

old urban farming consultancy and social enterprise. Over 15 

types of edible flowers, herbs, vegetables and fruit trees are 

grown and the weekly harvest can weigh up to two 

kilogrammes of six to seven different varieties, such as Thai 

basil, cat whiskers’ flowers and cucumber flowers. The 

Company is supportive of this sustainable agricultural 

initiative for its positive impact on the environment.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Wheelock Properties wishes to affirm its commitment as  

a green developer. The Company consistently incorporates 

and reviews energy efficient designs in its developments. 

Eco-friendly work practices have been implemented to 

create a sustainable work environment at our development 

work sites and corporate office. These include reducing 

electricity consumption by turning off lights and machines 

after office hours, reducing paper and print usage via digital 

file storage and duplex printing, as well as regular waste 

paper collection for recycling in the office.
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Over the years, Wheelock Properties has been recognised in Singapore for our green environmental efforts at our 

developments and projects:

AWARDS & ACCOLADES BUILDING ORGANISATION

2015 Green Mark Award (Gold) 

– New Residential Building
The Panorama Building and Construction Authority

2014 Green Mark Award (Gold) 

– Existing Building for Non-Residential Buildings
Wheelock Place Building and Construction Authority

2014 Building Energy Benchmarking Report 

– Top 10 Commercial Buildings for Mixed Developments
Wheelock Place Building and Construction Authority

2012 Green Mark Award (Platinum)

– New Residential Building
Ardmore Three Building and Construction Authority

2008 Architectural Heritage Awards 

– Category A
The Sea View Urban Redevelopment Authority
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Our conservation efforts are in the following areas:

ENERGY WATER

•	 Fully centralised automatic energy control

•	 Energy-efficient light fittings

•	 Lifts and escalators with energy-saving mode and power 

regenerative features

•	 Upgrade of air-conditioning system electric chiller for 

improved energy efficiency

•	 Use of solar reflective paint for high performance heat 

insulation to external walls

•	 Use of water-efficient sanitary fixtures and fittings rated 

by Water Efficiency Labelling Standards (WELS)

•	 Automated sensor and timer water taps

•	 Use of sub-meters to monitor major water usage such 

as landscape irrigation and swimming pools

•	 Implementation of a bio-retention swale system which 

maximises the volume of runoff treated through filtration 

for landscape irrigation

AIR PAPER

•	 Use of low Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) emission 

paint system for internal walls

•	 Refuse chutes located in well-ventilated areas to 

minimise airborne contaminants

•	 Provision of Hybrid Car parking lots to promote green living

•	 Urban farming to transform under-utilised city spaces 

into arable plots to grow produce and improve air quality

•	 Paper recycling facilities are easily accessible in the office

•	 Announcements and annual reports are available 

electronically on the corporate website and SGXNET 

•	 Digital CD Annual Reports to reduce paper usage and 

hard copies are printed on FSC-certified or recycled paper

WASTE

•	 Waste management strategies at construction sites such 

as recycling waste water and demolished concretes

•	 Use of environment friendly and green label construction 

products certified under Singapore Green Label Scheme 

(SGLS)

•	 Provision of compost bins to produce compost for use 

as natural plant fertiliser

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

By implementing sustainable practices to our projects and properties, we remain committed to deliver quality products  

and services, positively impact people and the society, reduce our carbon footprint and protect the environment in our  

daily operations.
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Directors’ statement
Year ended 31 December 2015

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

In our opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements set out on pages 51 to 105 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the financial performance, changes in equity 

and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b)	 at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 

and when they fall due.

We authorised these financial statements for issue on the date of this statement.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Stephen Tin Hoi Ng

Lee Wai Chung	 (appointed on 1 August 2015)

Frank Yung-Cheng Yung

Greg Fook Hin Seow

Colm Martin McCarthy

David Tik En Lim

Kevin Khien Kwok

Tan Bee Kim

Tan Zing Yan

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Act, particulars of interests of directors 

who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and infant children) in shares, debentures, 

warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings at
beginning of the

financial year

Holdings at
end of the

financial year

Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited
–	ordinary shares

Tan Bee Kim
–	direct interest 30,000 30,000

Frank Yung-Cheng Yung
–	direct interest 80,000 80,000
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Directors’ interests (CONT'D)

Name of director and corporation
in which interests are held

Holdings at
beginning of the

financial year

Holdings at
end of the

financial year

The ultimate holding company
Wheelock and Company Limited
–	ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each

Stephen Tin Hoi Ng
–	direct interest 300,000 300,000

Related Corporations
i-CABLE Communications Limited
–	ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each

Stephen Tin Hoi Ng
–	direct interest 1,265,005 1,265,005

The Wharf (Holdings) Limited
–	ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each

Stephen Tin Hoi Ng
–	direct interest 804,445 804,445

Options to acquire ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each in The Wharf (Holdings) Limited

At beginning
of the 

financial year

At the end 
of the 

financial year Exercise period

Subscription
price per share 

HK$

Stephen Tin Hoi Ng 1,500,000* 1,500,000 05.07.2011 to 04.07.2016 55.15
2,000,000** 2,000,000 06.06.2013 to 05.06.2018 70.20

* 	 The share options were vested in 5 tranches within a period of 5 years, with each tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options (i.e., exercisable 
to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant total number of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited’s shares) and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming 
exercisable from 5th of July in the years 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 respectively. 

**	 The share options were/will be vested in 5 tranches within a period of 5 years, with each tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options 
(i.e., exercisable to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant total number of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited’s shares) and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th 
tranche becoming exercisable from 6th of June in the years 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 respectively.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, 

debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations either at the beginning of the financial year, 

or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.

There were no changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 

21 January 2016.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects 

are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 

shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Share options

During the financial year, there were:

(i)	 no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company or its 

subsidiaries; and

(ii)	 no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee during the year and at the date of this report are:

•	 Frank Yung-Cheng Yung (Chairman)

•	 Greg Fook Hin Seow

•	 Colm Martin McCarthy

•	 David Tik En Lim

•	 Kevin Khien Kwok

All the members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee are non-executive directors of the Company who are 

independent of the Group and the Company’s management.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST) Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee held four meetings since the last directors’ report. In performing its functions, the 

Audit and Risk Management Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their 

work, the results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also reviewed the following:

•	 assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

•	 quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission 

to the directors of the Company for adoption and approval; and

•	 interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual).

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to 

discharge its functions. It has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the 

level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has undertaken a review of the nature and extent of non-audit services provided 

by the external auditors. In the opinion of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, these services would not affect the 

independence of the external auditors.

Accordingly, the Audit and Risk Management Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external 

auditors and has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as 

auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The Company is in compliance with Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual in respect of the appointment of auditors 

for the Company and its subsidiaries.

Directors’ statement
Year ended 31 December 2015
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Auditors

The auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Tan Bee Kim

Director

Frank Yung-Cheng Yung

Director

28 March 2016
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Members of the Company
Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited (the Company) and its 

subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 

31 December 2015, the statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 

and statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information, as set out on pages 51 to 105.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 

and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 

safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 

recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are 

properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2015 and the financial 

performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 

corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 

of the Act.

KPMG LLP

Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

28 March 2016

Independent auditors’ report
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Group Company

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 2,101 2,015 1,694 1,667
Investment properties 5 1,146,000 1,175,000 234,000 260,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries 6 – – 1,044,822 1,162,429
Interests in subsidiaries 7 – – 267,865 255,366
Interests in associates 8 560,478 547,968 – –
Investments 9 251,814 591,828 – –
Other non-current assets 10 540 540 540 540

1,960,933 2,317,351 1,548,921 1,680,002

Current assets
Development properties 11 1,108,931 1,176,381 57,352 66,907
Trade and accrued receivables 12 32,181 8,571 736 612
Amounts due from subsidiaries 6 – – 222 214
Amounts due from related corporations 13 13 36 13 36
Other receivables 14 8,448 7,508 1,073 952
Cash and cash equivalents 15 611,565 408,515 466,364 365,165

1,761,138 1,601,011 525,760 433,886
Total assets 3,722,071 3,918,362 2,074,681 2,113,888

Equity attributable to owners of the 

Company
Share capital 16 1,055,901 1,055,901 1,055,901 1,055,901
Reserves 17 1,978,677 2,076,725 680,231 769,739
Total equity 3,034,578 3,132,626 1,736,132 1,825,640

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 294,540 315,063 – –
Deferred tax liabilities 19 13,999 15,977 2,199 2,136

308,539 331,040 2,199 2,136

Current liabilities
Trade payables 20 74,530 67,602 4,131 12,539
Other payables 21 59,296 32,818 11,352 10,750
Amounts due to subsidiaries 6 – – 319,068 261,663
Interest-bearing liabilities 18 220,674 343,360 – –
Current tax liabilities 24,454 10,916 1,799 1,160

378,954 454,696 336,350 286,112
Total liabilities 687,493 785,736 338,549 288,248
Total equity and liabilities 3,722,071 3,918,362 2,074,681 2,113,888

Statements of financial position
As at 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Revenue 22 371,593 99,015
Cost of sales (284,137) (23,706)
Gross profit 87,456 75,309

Other income
–	gain on disposal of investments 22,065 309
–	others 25 7,028 3,663

29,093 3,972
Selling and marketing expenses (5,555) (3,092)
Administrative and corporate expenses (13,232) (9,528)
Other operating expenses
–	write-back of/(allowance for) diminution in value of development properties 11 6,000 (74,986)
–	changes in fair value on investment properties 5 (30,892) (51,521)
–	others 26 (20,759) (9,090)

(45,651) (135,597)

Finance costs (3,424) (107)

Share of profit of associates, net of tax 
(including negative goodwill of $115,780,000 in 2014) 8 13,936 126,094

Profit before taxation 62,623 57,051
Tax expense 23 (22,292) (13,925)
Profit for the year 24 40,331 43,126

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (cents) 27 3.37 3.60
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 27 3.37 3.60

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 40,331 43,126

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income of associates, net of tax (31) (52)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Available-for-sale financial assets
–	net change in fair value (46,235) 142,421
–	transfer to profit or loss on disposal (22,065) (309)
Exchange differences arising on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries 3,141 11,859
Share of other comprehensive income of associates, net of tax (1,395) 4,885
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (66,585) 158,804

Total comprehensive income for the year (26,254) 201,930

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Note
Share

capital
Other 

reserves
Retained
earnings

Total 
equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
At 1 January 2015 1,055,901 112,461 1,964,264 3,132,626

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – 40,331 40,331
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets
–	net change in fair value – (46,235) – (46,235)
–	transfer to profit or loss on disposal – (22,065) – (22,065)
Exchange differences arising on 

consolidation of foreign subsidiaries – 3,141 – 3,141
Share of other comprehensive income 

of associates, net of tax – (1,426) – (1,426)
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax – (66,585) – (66,585)
Total comprehensive income for the year – (66,585) 40,331 (26,254)

Transaction with owners of the Company, 
recorded directly in equity

Distribution to owners
Dividends to owners 28 – – (71,794) (71,794)
Total transaction with owners – – (71,794) (71,794)
At 31 December 2015 1,055,901 45,876 1,932,801 3,034,578

At 1 January 2014 1,055,901 271,866 1,674,723 3,002,490

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – 43,126 43,126
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets
–	net change in fair value – 142,421 – 142,421
–	transfer to profit or loss on disposal – (309) – (309)
Exchange differences arising on 

consolidation of foreign subsidiaries – 11,859 – 11,859
Share of other comprehensive income 

of associates, net of tax – 4,833 – 4,833
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax – 158,804 – 158,804
Total comprehensive income for the year – 158,804 43,126 201,930

Transfer
Transfer of reserve to retained earnings – (318,209) 318,209 –

Transaction with owners of the Company, 
recorded directly in equity

Distribution to owners
Dividends to owners 28 – – (71,794) (71,794)
Total transaction with owners – – (71,794) (71,794)
At 31 December 2014 1,055,901 112,461  1,964,264 3,132,626

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit for the year 40,331 43,126
Adjustments for:
Tax expense 22,292 13,925
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4 309 333
Net change in fair value of forward exchange contracts 548 (8,254)
Exchange gain (net) (17,818) (6,848)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 2
Interest income 25(a) (3,161) (1,885)
Interest income from investments 24 (12,489) (13,032)
Finance costs 3,424 107
Fixtures, plant and equipment included in investment property written off 5 – 466
(Write-back of)/Allowance for diminution in value of development properties (6,000) 74,986
Changes in fair value on investment properties 5 30,892 51,521
Gain on disposal of investments (22,065) (309)
Dividend income from investments 24 (9,347) (12,484)
Share of profit of associates, net of tax (13,936) (126,094)

12,980 15,560
Changes in:
–	Development properties 85,912 (4,469)
–	Trade and accrued receivables (23,610) (7,200)
–	Amount due from related corporations 23 (11)
–	Other receivables (1,523) 615
–	Trade payables 7,634 (2,007)
–	Other payables 27,022 1,501
Cash generated from operations 108,438 3,989
Interest received 3,414 1,949
Income tax paid (10,732) (34,875)
Dividends paid 28 (71,794) (71,794)
Cash flows from operating activities 29,326 (100,731)

Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investments 653,025 37,971
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (428) (747)
Expenditure on investment properties (2,708) (1,788)
Acquisition of investments (330,146) (19,787)
Dividends received 9,326 12,467
Interest received 13,243 13,574
Investment in associates – (95)
Cash flows from investing activities 342,312 41,595

Financing activities
Repayment of bank loan (169,459) –
Drawdown of bank loan 13,786 18,037
Finance costs (12,622) (7,533)
Cash flows from financing activities (168,295) 10,504

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 203,343 (48,632)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 408,515 457,289
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in foreign currencies (293) (142)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15 611,565 408,515

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

55



Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1.	 Domicile and activities

Wheelock Properties (Singapore) Limited (the Company) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and has its 

registered office at 501 Orchard Road #11-01, Wheelock Place, Singapore 238880.

The principal activities of the Group and the Company are those relating to property owners, developers, property 

managers and investment holding. The Company also acts as a holding company and provides management services 

to its subsidiaries.

The immediate holding company is Star Attraction Limited, incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The intermediate 

holding company is Wheelock Investments Limited and the ultimate holding company is Wheelock and Company 

Limited, both of which are incorporated in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group and 

individually as Group entities) and the Group’s interests in associates.

2.	B asis of preparation

2.1	S tatement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

2.2	B asis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the 

statements of financial position:

•	 Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value; 

•	 Investment properties are measured at fair value; and

•	 Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.

2.3	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial 

information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.
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2.	B asis of preparation (CONT'D)

2.4	U se of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

•	 Note 3.12 and	–	 Estimation of the percentage of completion, construction costs, attributable profits and

	 Note 11		  diminution in value of development properties;

•	 Note 5 	 –	 Valuation of investment properties;

•	 Note 19	 –	 Estimation of provisions for deferred taxation; and

•	 Note 23	 –	 Estimation of provisions for current taxation.

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 

and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. The finance team has 

overall responsibility for all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair value.

The finance team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, 

such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the finance team assesses and documents 

the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of 

FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair 

values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 

as follows:

Level 1:	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

	 directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

Level 3:	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair 

value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy 

as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).

The Group recognises transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during 

which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 5 – investment properties.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 

statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

3.1	B asis of consolidation

(i)	B usiness combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business 

Combination as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests (NCI) in the acquiree; plus 

•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the 

acquiree, 

over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 

Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 

Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and included in the 

consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and 

settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent 

consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 

employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s 

replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This 

determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-

based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or 

future service.

(ii)	S ubsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 

rights to, variable return from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies 

adopted by the Group.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.1	B asis of consolidation (cont'd)

(iii)	L oss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling 

interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss 

of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such 

interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-

accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

(iv)	I nvestment in associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over 

financial and operating policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group 

holds 20% or more of the voting power of another entity.

Investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially at cost, which 

includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the 

Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates, after adjustments to align 

the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the 

date that significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of the investment, 

together with any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further 

losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund the associate’s operations 

or has made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group applied the cost approach for the step acquisition for associates reclassified from available-for-sale 

financial assets to interest in associates. Under the cost approach, the fair value reserve relating to available-for-

sale financial asset is transferred directly to retained earnings when the available-for-sale financial assets 

become an associate.

The carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of investment, and an impairment loss 

on such an investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying 

amount of the associates.

(v)	T ransactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from 

transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the 

associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that 

there is no evidence of impairment.

(vi)	S ubsidiaries in the separate financial statement

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.2	F oreign currency

(i)	F oreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at 

exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign 

currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at 

the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost 

in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 

the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are 

recognised in profit or loss, except for the following differences which are recognised in other comprehensive 

income arising on the retranslation of:

•	 available-for-sale equity instruments (except on impairment in which case foreign currency differences 

that have been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss);

•	 a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that 

the hedge is effective; or

•	 qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective.

(ii)	F oreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and 

expenses of foreign operations are translated to Singapore dollars at exchange rates at the dates of the 

transactions. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 

1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the exchange 

rates at the reporting date.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign 

currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly-

owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the 

non-controlling interests. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or 

joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is 

reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its 

interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the 

cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its 

investment in an associate that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence, the relevant 

proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned 

nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such monetary 

items that are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in other 

comprehensive income, and are presented in the translation reserve in equity.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.3	F inancial instruments

(i)	N on-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other 

financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the 

trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers 

nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred 

asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a 

separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 

when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 

basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative assets into the following categories: loans and receivables and available-

for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts due from 

subsidiaries and related corporations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank deposits that are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in their fair values.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or 

are not classified in any other categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised 

initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transactions costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 

measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on 

available-for-sale debt instruments and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale equity instruments 

designated as hedged item in hedge accounting, are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented 

in the fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in equity 

is reclassified to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities and debt securities.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.3	F inancial instruments (cont'd)

(ii)	N on-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on 

the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 

when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 

basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial 

liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and amounts due to 

subsidiaries.

(iii)	S hare capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Repurchase, disposal and reissue of share capital (treasury shares)

Where share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes 

directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares 

are classified as treasury shares and are presented in the reserve for own share account. When treasury shares 

are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting 

surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in non-distributable capital reserve.

Distribution of non-cash assets to owners of the Company

The Group measures a liability to distribute non-cash assets as a dividend to the owners of the Company at the 

fair value of the assets to be distributed. The carrying amount of the dividend is remeasured at each reporting 

date and at the settlement date, with any changes recognised directly in equity as adjustments to the amount 

of the distribution. On settlement of the transaction, the Group recognises the difference, if any, between the 

carrying amount of the assets distributed and the carrying amount of the liability in profit or loss.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.3	F inancial instruments (cont'd)

(iv)	 Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposure. Embedded 

derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics 

and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument with 

the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined 

instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship 

between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy 

in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess 

the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the 

hedge relationship as well as on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be 

‘highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value of the respective hedged items attributable to the 

hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80 - 125%. 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and all changes in its fair value 

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Fair value hedges

Changes in fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value hedge are recognised in profit 

or loss. The hedged item is adjusted to reflect change in value in respect of the risk being hedged with any gain 

or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Other non-trading derivatives

When a derivative financial instruments is not recognised in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge 

accounting, all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.4	P roperty, plant and equipment

(i)	R ecognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is 

integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between 

the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.4	P roperty, plant and equipment (cont'd)

(ii)	R eclassification to investment property

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured 

to fair value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss to 

the extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain 

recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the property is sold, the related amount in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

(iii)	S ubsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow 

to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is 

derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit 

or loss as incurred.

(iv)	 Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets 

are assessed and if a component has an useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that 

component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss or capitalised into development properties as appropriate, on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and 

equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 

reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready 

for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Plant and equipment	 10% to 331⁄3%

Furniture and fixtures	 10% to 20%

Motor vehicles	 20%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

adjusted if appropriate.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.5	I nvestment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not 

for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 

purposes. Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any 

changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties. The cost of self-

constructed investment properties includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable 

to bringing the investment properties to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from 

disposal and carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. When an investment property that was 

previously classified as property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is 

transferred to retained earnings.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, its fair value at the date 

of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Property that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted for at fair value.

3.6	 Development properties

Development properties are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes acquisition costs, 

development expenditure, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributable to the development 

activities. Cost also includes an appropriate share of development overheads allocated based on normal capacity.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and development of the development property are 

capitalised as part of development property during the period of development.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 

and selling expenses.

Properties under development, the sales of which are recognised using the percentage of completion method 

The aggregated costs incurred together with attributable profits and net of progress billings are presented as 

development properties in the statement of financial position. If progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised 

profits, the balance is presented as deferred income.

Other properties under development 

The aggregated costs incurred are presented as development properties while progress billings are presented separately 

as deferred income in the statement of financial position.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.7	I mpairment

(i)	N on-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective 

evidence indicates that a loss event(s) has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss 

event(s) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity and debt securities) are impaired can include default 

or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment 

status of borrowers or issuers in the Group, economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the 

disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for an investment in equity securities, a significant 

or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

Loans and receivables

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at the specific asset level. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 

original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account 

against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When the Group 

considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off. If 

the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated 

in the fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or 

loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the 

current fair value, less any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss. Changes in cumulative 

impairment provisions attributable to application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component 

of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security 

increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognised then the impairment loss is reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

However, subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised 

in other comprehensive income.

Associates

An impairment loss in respect of an associate is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the 

investment with its carrying amount in accordance with note 3.7(ii). An impairment loss is recognised in profit 

or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 

determine the recoverable amount.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.7	I mpairment (cont'd)

(ii)	N on-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than development properties and investment 

properties, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 

such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the 

carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 

together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU. 

Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part 

of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are 

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then 

to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 

loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates 

used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 

or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and 

therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is 

tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may 

be impaired.

3.8	E mployee benefits

(i)	 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 

contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit in profit or loss in 

the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

(ii)	S hort-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 

related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans 

if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 

by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.9	I ntra-group financial guarantees

Intra-group financial guarantees are accounted for as insurance contracts. A provision is recognised based on the 

Company’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the reporting date. The provision 

is assessed by reviewing individual claims and tested for adequacy by comparing the amount recognised and the 

amount that would be required to settle the guarantee contract.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.10	T ax expense

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to 

the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive 

income or where it relates to net surplus for properties earmarked for redevelopment, in which case it is capitalised as 

part of the development costs.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 

or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

•	 temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the Group is able 

to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future; and 

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group 

expects, at the end of the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For 

investment properties that are measured at fair value, the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment 

properties will be recovered through sale has not been rebutted. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 

expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 

and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 

intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 

simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 

will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax 

positions and whether the additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities 

are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and 

prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about 

future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the 

adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such 

determination is made.

3.11	F inance costs

Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred using the 

effective interest method, except to the extent that they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its 

intended use or sale.
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3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.12	R evenue 

(i)	S ale of development properties 

Revenue from sales of properties under development is recognised by reference to the stage of completion 

using the percentage of completion method when the Group determines that (a) control and the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership of the work-in-progress transfer to the buyer in its current state as construction 

progresses, (b) the sales price is fixed and collectible, (c) the percentage of completion can be measured 

reliably, (d) there is no significant uncertainty as to the ability of the Group to complete the development, and 

(e) costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured reliably.

In all other instances, revenue from sales of development properties is only recognised upon the transfer of 

control and significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property to the purchasers. This generally 

coincides with the point in time when the development units are delivered to the purchasers. No revenue is 

recognised when there is significant uncertainty as to the collectability of consideration due or the possible 

return of units sold. 

The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the work performed, based on the ratio of construction 

costs incurred to date to the estimated total constructions costs. Profits are recognised only in respect of finalised 

sales contracts to the extent that such profits relate to the progress of the construction work.

(ii)	R ental income

Rental income from investment properties are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term 

of the lease. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iii)	 Dividend

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which 

in the case of quoted equity securities is the ex-dividend date.

(iv)	I nterest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

3.13	I nter-company interest-free loans

In the Company’s financial statements, interest-free loans to subsidiaries are stated at fair value at inception. 

The difference between the fair value and the loan amount at inception is recognised as additional investment in 

subsidiaries in the Company’s financial statements. Subsequently, these loans are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. The unwinding of the difference is recognised as interest income in profit or loss over 

the expected repayment period.

Interest-free loans, where settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, are in substance, 

part of the Company’s net investment in the entities and are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Such balances are eliminated in full in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

3.14	L ease payments

Payments made under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term 

of the lease. Contingent lease payments are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.	S ignificant accounting policies (CONT'D)

3.15	E arnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is 

determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

3.16	S egment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 

and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 

components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s chief operating decision 

maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which 

discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker include items directly attributable to 

a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate 

assets, corporate expense and income tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment and 

investment properties.

3.17	N ew standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 

after 1 January 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The Group is currently 

assessing the potential impact of adopting these new standards and interpretations, on the financial statements of 

the Group and the Company.

These new standards include, among others, FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and FRS 109 Financial 

Instruments which are mandatory for the adoption by the Group on 1 January 2018.

•	 FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 

recognised. It also introduces a new cost guidance which requires certain costs of obtaining and fulfilling 

contracts to be recognised as separate assets when specified criteria are met. When effective, FRS 115 replaces 

existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts, INT FRS 113 

Customers Loyalty Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 

Transfers of Assets from Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue – Barter Transaction Involving Advertising Services.

•	 FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

It includes revised guidance on classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit 

loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements.

As FRS 115 and FRS 109, when effective, will change the existing accounting standards and guidance applied by the 

Group and the Company in accounting for revenue and financial instruments, these standards are expected to be 

relevant to the Group and the Company. The Group is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements and 

the implementation of the standards. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.

The Accounting Standard Council (ASC) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore-incorporated companies listed on 

the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will apply a new financial reporting framework identical to the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) for financial year ending 31 December 2018 onwards. Singapore-incorporated companies 

listed on SGX will have to assess the impact of IFRS 1: First-time adoption of IFRS when transitioning to the new 

reporting framework. The Group is currently assessing the impact of transitioning to the new reporting framework on 

its financial statements.
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4.	P roperty, plant and equipment

Plant and
equipment

Furniture
and 

fixtures
Motor

vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2014 1,228 2,232 386 3,846
Additions 149 543 55 747
Disposals (59) (17) – (76)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 3 1 3 7
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 1,321 2,759 444 4,524
Additions 244 173 11 428
Disposals (113) (37) – (150)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 1 – 2 3
At 31 December 2015 1,453 2,895 457 4,805

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 839 1,118 253 2,210
Depreciation 168 121 82 371
Disposals (57) (17) – (74)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 1 – 1 2
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 951 1,222 336 2,509
Depreciation 175 119 50 344
Disposals (113) (37) – (150)
Effect of movements in exchange rates – – 1 1
At 31 December 2015 1,013 1,304 387 2,704

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2014 389 1,114 133 1,636
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 370 1,537 108 2,015
At 31 December 2015 440 1,591 70 2,101

Company
Cost
At 1 January 2014 643 2,012 313 2,968
Additions 20 541 – 561
Disposals (29) (4) – (33)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 634 2,549 313 3,496
Additions 66 173 – 239
Disposals (34) (1) – (35)
At 31 December 2015 666 2,721 313 3,700

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 435 945 225 1,605
Depreciation 87 106 63 256
Disposals (28) (4) – (32)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 494 1,047 288 1,829
Depreciation 80 107 25 212
Disposals (34) (1) – (35)
At 31 December 2015 540 1,153 313 2,006

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2014 208 1,067 88 1,363
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 140 1,502 25 1,667
At 31 December 2015 126 1,568 – 1,694
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

4.	P roperty, plant and equipment (CONT'D)

The depreciation charge for the year is included in the financial statements as follows:

Group

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Charged to profit or loss 22 309 333
Capitalised to development properties 35 38

344 371

5.	I nvestment properties

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 1,175,000 1,227,000 260,000 312,000
Additions 2,708 1,788 1,008 1
Write-back of construction costs (816) (1,801) (816) (1,801)
Fixtures, plant and equipment included in 

investment property written off – (466) – –
Changes in fair value (30,892) (51,521) (26,192) (50,200)
At 31 December 1,146,000 1,175,000 234,000 260,000

Details of the properties are:

Description 
Site area

(sq. metre) Tenure

Wheelock Place, comprising 16-storey office tower,  

5-level office and shopping podium, 2-basement levels of shops and 

car parks situated at 501 Orchard Road.

7,847 99-year lease

commencing

15 September 1990

Scotts Square, a residential-cum-retail development situated at 6 Scotts Road. 

The retail podium comprises 3-storey plus 1-basement level of retail space 

and a basement car park which form the investment property.

6,609 Freehold

Wheelock Place and Scotts Square Retail are held for rental, mainly to external customers under operating leases. 

Each of the leases contains an initial non-cancellable period of 2 to 5 years. Subsequent renewals are negotiated 

with the lessees.

Contingent rentals, representing income based on certain sales achieved by the tenants, recognised in profit or loss 

amounted to $2,493,000 (2014: $1,790,000).
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5.	I nvestment properties (CONT'D)

Measurement of fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The investment properties are revalued as at 31 December 2015 by firms of independent professional valuers that have 

appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the properties 

being valued.

The valuers have used the Investment Method in arriving at the current open market values of the properties. The 

Direct Comparison Method was also considered by the valuers in assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 

derived from the Investment Method.

The Investment Method involves the conversion of the net rent of the property into a capital sum at a suitable rate of 

return which reflects the quality of the investment.

The Direct Comparison Method involves the analysis and study of recent sales evidence of similar properties in 

comparable developments in the subject/comparable vicinities.

The fair value measurement for investment properties has been categorised as follows, based on inputs to valuation 

techniques used (see note 2.4).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2015
Investment properties – – 1,146,000 1,146,000

2014
Investment properties – – 1,175,000 1,175,000

Company
2015
Investment property – – 234,000 234,000

2014
Investment property – – 260,000 260,000

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment property as well as 

the significant unobservable inputs used.

Type Valuation technique Unobservable input

Inter-relationship between
key unobservable inputs

and fair value measurement

Investment properties Investment method Capitalisation rate 

(4.75% - 6.00% 

(2014: 4.75% - 6.00%))

A significant increase

in capitalisation rate in

isolation would result in a

significantly lower fair

value measurement.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

6.	A mounts due from/to subsidiaries

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Non-current
Interest-free inter-company loans 803,295 631,634
Quasi-equity loans 473,663 739,802
Impairment loss (232,136) (209,007)

1,044,822 1,162,429
Current
Non-trade 32,450 373
Impairment loss (32,228) (159)

222 214

The amounts due from subsidiaries are interest-free, unsecured and not past due.

The interest-free inter-company loans are repayable between December 2017 and December 2020 (2014: repayable 

between December 2016 and December 2017).

The repayment of interest-free inter-company loans and non-trade amounts of $448,548,000 (2014: $631,829,000) 

are subordinated to certain bank loans. These repayments are subject to conditions stipulated in the term loan facility 

agreement (refer to note 18).

The quasi-equity loans form part of the Company’s net investment in subsidiaries where settlement is neither planned 

nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

Impairment loss

The change in impairment loss in respect of amounts due from subsidiaries during the year is as follows:

Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 209,166 143,016
Recognition of impairment loss 55,401 96,079
Write-back of impairment loss (203) –
Amounts written off – (29,929)
At 31 December 264,364 209,166

For subsidiaries with available-for-sale financial assets, the Company assessed the recoverable amount of the amounts 

due from the subsidiaries using management’s estimate of the fair value of the underlying available-for-sale financial 

assets with reference to the quoted bid price in an active market. For other subsidiaries, the Company assessed their 

recoverable amounts using the value-in-use approach, when there is a loss event. Based on this assessment, the 

Company made a net impairment loss of $55,198,000 (2014: $96,079,000) on the amounts due from the subsidiaries.

Amounts due to subsidiaries

The amounts due to subsidiaries are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.
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7.	I nterests in subsidiaries

Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Investment in subsidiaries 163,100 164,100
Discount implicit in interest-free inter-company loans 104,765 91,266

267,865 255,366

The following are the Company’s subsidiaries:

Company name Principal activities
Country of

incorporation 

Effective equity 
held by the Group

2015 2014

% %

(i)	 Direct subsidiaries
4	 Actbilt Pte Limited Property owner and developer Singapore – 100

1	 Belmont Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

3	 Bestbilt Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Botanica Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Caldecote Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Campden Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Everbilt Developers Pte Ltd Property owner and developer Singapore 100 100

1	 Mer Vue Developments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Palm Valley Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Pinehill Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Preston Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

1	 Springfield Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

1	 Wheelock Properties (Japan)

		  Pte. Ltd.

Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 WPJ Services Pte. Ltd. Provision of real estate

advisory services 

Singapore 100 100

1	 WPS Capital Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 100
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

7.	I nterests in subsidiaries (CONT'D)

Company name Principal activities
Country of

incorporation 

Effective equity 
held by the Group

2015 2014

% %

(ii)	I ndirect subsidiaries
Subsidiary of Palm Valley 

Properties Pte. Ltd.

2	 Gold Unicorn Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong 100 100

Subsidiary of Gold Unicorn 

Holdings Limited

2	富汇房地产开发(富阳)有限公司 Residential development,

construction and property

management

People’s

Republic of

China

100 100

Subsidiaries of Preston 

Properties Pte. Ltd.

1	 Coleman Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

3	 Wheelock Properties (UK) 

	 Limited

Property owner, developer,

property management

and investment holding

United

Kingdom

100 100

Subsidiary of Coleman 

Properties Pte. Ltd.

3	 Wheelock Properties (Jersey) 

	 Limited

Property owner, developer,

property management

and investment holding

Jersey 100 100

Subsidiary of WPJ Services 

Pte. Ltd.

3	 Wheelock Services K. K. Provision of information

and advisory services relating to

Japanese real estate market

Japan 100 100

Subsidiaries of WPS Capital 

Pte. Ltd.

4	 Ardesia Developments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore – 100

1	 Besvale Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Cairnhill Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Colonnade Investments 

	 Pte. Ltd.

Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100
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7.	I nterests in subsidiaries (CONT'D)

Company name Principal activities
Country of

incorporation 

Effective equity 
held by the Group

2015 2014

% %

(ii)	I ndirect subsidiaries (cont'd)
Subsidiaries of WPS Capital 

Pte. Ltd. (cont'd)

1	 Cone Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Crag Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 –

1	 Croft Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Cymbal Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Dormer Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 –

1	 Grandville Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

1	 Harrington Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Joaquim Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Kilburn Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Nassim Developments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Orchard Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

1	 Pinedale Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

4 	Pinevale Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore – 100

1	 Ridgeway Properties Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding 

Singapore 100 100

1	 Rochester Investments Pte. Ltd. Property owner, developer

and investment holding

Singapore 100 100

1	 Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore.
2	 Audited by other member firms of KPMG International.
3	 No audit required.
4	 These subsidiaries were liquidated/struck off during the year.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

8.	I nterests in associates 

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Investment in associates 560,478 547,971
Impairment loss – (3)

560,478 547,968

Interests in associates include quasi-equity loan of $360,318,000 (2014: $360,318,000) due from 68 Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Details of associates are as follows:

Name of associate Principal activities
Country of

incorporation 

Effective equity
held by the Group

2015 2014

% %

1	 HI Agencies Limited Property agent United Kingdom − 32.92

2	 68 Holdings Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 40 40

3	 Hotel Properties Limited held 

	 by 68 Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Hotelier and investment holding Singapore 22.58 22.61

1	 This associate was struck off during the year.
2	 Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore.
3	 Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

The following table summarises the financial information of the Group’s material associate based on its (consolidated) 

financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS, modified for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences 

in the Group’s accounting policies. The table also includes summarised financial information for the Group’s interests 

in immaterial associates, based on the amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

68 Holdings
Group

Immaterial
associate Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Non-current assets 3,765,682
Current assets 557,006
Non-current liabilities (1,064,338)
Current liabilities (392,652)
Net assets 2,865,698
Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,464,741
Attributable to investee’s shareholders 1,400,957
Group’s share of net assets of investee at beginning of the year 547,866 7 547,873
Group’s share of:
–	profit/(loss) for the year 13,943 (7) 13,936
–	other comprehensive income (1,426) – (1,426)
–	total comprehensive income 12,517 (7) 12,510
Group’s share of net assets of investee at end of the year 560,383 – 560,383
Transaction cost capitalised 95 – 95
Carrying amount of interests in investees at the end of the year 560,478 – 560,478
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8.	I nterests in associates (CONT'D)

68 Holdings
Group

Immaterial
associate Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Revenue 579,541
Profit for the year 84,222
Other comprehensive income (6,372)
Total comprehensive income 77,850
Attributable to non-controlling interests 46,558
Attributable to investee’s shareholders 31,292
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 12,517
Add: Other comprehensive income 1,426
Group’s share of profit of investees, net of tax 13,943

2014
Non-current assets 3,951,789
Current assets 423,891
Non-current liabilities (1,084,148)
Current liabilities (475,745)
Net assets 2,815,787
Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,446,122
Attributable to investee’s shareholders 1,369,665
Group’s share of net assets of investee at date of gaining significant 

influence/beginning of the year 532,719 7 532,726
Group’s share of:
–	profit for the year 10,314 – 10,314
–	other comprehensive income 4,833 – 4,833
–	total comprehensive income 15,147 – 15,147
Group’s share of net assets of investee at end of period 547,866 7 547,873
Transaction cost capitalised 95 – 95
Carrying amount of interests in investees at the end of the year 547,961 7 547,968

2014
Revenue 278,142
Profit for the year 56,604
Other comprehensive income 22,258
Total comprehensive income 78,862
Attributable to non-controlling interests 40,995
Attributable to investee’s shareholders 37,867
Group’s share of total comprehensive income 15,147
Add: Negative goodwill 115,780
Group’s share of total comprehensive income, 

including negative goodwill 130,927
Add: Other comprehensive income (4,833)
Group’s share of profit of investees, net of tax * 126,094
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

8.	I nterests in associates (CONT'D)

Immaterial
associate

$’000

2015
Group’s share in net assets of investee at beginning of the year 7
Group’s share of:
–	loss for the year (7)
–	other comprehensive income –
–	total comprehensive income (7)
Carrying amount of interests in investee at end of the year –

2014
Group’s share in net assets of investee at beginning of the year 7
Group’s share of:
–	profit for the year –
–	other comprehensive income –
–	total comprehensive income –
Carrying amount of interests in investee at end of the year 7

*	 Comprised share of results of associate for the period from 31 May 2014 to 31 December 2014 of $10,314,000 and negative goodwill of 
$115,780,000.

9.	I nvestments

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Non-current investments
Quoted available-for-sale financial assets:
–	Equity securities 110,280 442,968
–	Debt securities 141,534 148,860

251,814 591,828

The quoted equity securities and debt securities are classified as available-for-sale investments of the Group. The fair 

value of the available-for-sale financial assets is determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

10.	O ther non-current assets

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Club memberships 540 540 540 540
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11.	 Development properties

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Properties under development, revenue is recognised 

using percentage of completion method for sold units: 
–	Costs incurred and attributable profits 718,811 636,270 – –
–	Progress billings (228,602) (64,198) – –
–	Allowance for diminution in value (104,000) (110,000) – –

386,209 462,072 – –

Other properties under development:
–	Costs incurred 432,648 398,011 – –
–	Allowance for diminution in value (77,155) (76,303) – –

355,493 321,708 – –

Completed properties 367,229 392,601 57,352 66,907
Total development properties 1,108,931 1,176,381 57,352 66,907

Finance costs capitalised into development properties:
–	Interest on borrowings paid and payable to banks 8,655 7,889 – –
–	Other financing costs 966 1,344 – –
Interest income capitalised into development properties (326) (61) – –

9,295 9,172 – –

As at 31 December 2015, development properties amounting to $1,051,579,000 (2014: $1,109,474,000) are pledged as 

security to obtain bank loans (refer to note 18).

The Group recognises profit on sale of development properties in Singapore using the percentage of completion 

method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the quantity surveyor/architect’s certification of the 

estimated construction costs incurred to-date to the estimated total construction costs for each project.

For the Group’s project in the People’s Republic of China (PRC), profit on the sale of the development property is 

recognised on completion of each phase of the project.

In estimating the construction costs for each project, management relied on historical experience, contractual 

agreements with contractors/suppliers and the work of professionals such as quantity surveyors/architects. Any change 

in the estimates of the construction costs, variations, omissions or the effect of a change in the estimate of the outcome 

of a contractual agreement could impact the computation of the percentage of completion and the amount of revenue 

and expenses recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the change is made and in subsequent periods.

The Group makes allowance for diminution in value taking into account estimated net realisable values of the project 

by reference to comparable properties, location and property market conditions. Changes in the estimates of the 

construction costs would also have an effect on the determination of diminution in value for each project.

In 2014, an allowance for diminution in value of $74,986,000 was made on the Fuyang project in the PRC. During the 

year, the Group has reassessed the estimated net realisable values of the Fuyang project and concluded that the 

allowance for diminution remains appropriate as at 31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had assessed the net realisable value of The Panorama and determined the 

project’s allowance for diminution in value to be $110,000,000. In 2015, following a change in estimates, $6,000,000 

of the allowance for diminution in value was reversed.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

12.	T rade and accrued receivables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 22,638 5,935 235 612
Accrued receivables 9,543 2,636 501 –

32,181 8,571 736 612

Accrued receivables mainly represent the remaining balance of sales consideration to be billed. In accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy, income is recognised on the progress of the construction work for development properties 
for sale. Upon receipt of the Temporary Occupation Permit/Architect’s Certificate of Completion, the balance of sales 
consideration to be billed is included as accrued receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and accrued receivables at the reporting date by type of customer is:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Residential 31,738 7,737 – 1
Commercial 46 115 – –
Retail 397 719 736 611

32,181 8,571 736 612

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date is:

Group Company
Gross Gross Gross Gross 

2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Not past due 22,195 5,100 – –
Past due 1 – 30 days 367 382 235 175
Past due 31 – 60 days 2 72 – 58
Past due 61 – 90 days 1 16 – 14
Past due 91 – 120 days 50 169 – 169
Past due 121 – 150 days – 168 – 168
Past due more than 150 days 976 1,042 953 1,042

23,591 6,949 1,188 1,626

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

Group and
Company

$’000

At 1 January 2015 1,014
Write-back of impairment loss (61)
At 31 December 2015 953

At 1 January 2014 –
Recognition of impairment loss 1,055
Amounts written off (41)
At 31 December 2014 1,014

The Group’s historical experience in the collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded allowances. 
Management believes that no additional credit risk beyond the amounts provided for impairment loss is inherent in 

the Group’s trade receivables.
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13.	A mounts due from related corporations

The amounts due from related corporations are interest-free, unsecured, repayable on demand and not past due. 
There is no allowance for doubtful debts arising from the outstanding balances.

14.	O ther receivables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accrued income 1,369 1,929 609 588
Deposits 382 376 89 49
Forward exchange contracts – 136 – 136
Interest receivables 4,090 4,437 91 41
Prepaid expenses 2,322 289 230 88
Others 285 341 54 50

8,448 7,508 1,073 952

15.	C ash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts held under the “Project Account Rules – 1997 

Ed”, withdrawals from which are restricted to payments 

for expenditure incurred on projects 118,676 35,385 – –
Fixed deposits at banks 142,619 39,189 131,269 34,399
Cash at banks and in hand 350,270 333,941 335,095 330,766
Cash and cash equivalents 611,565 408,515 466,364 365,165

The weighted average effective interest rates relating to cash and cash equivalents at the reporting date for the Group 
and the Company are 1.01% (2014: 0.49%) and 1.07% (2014: 0.50%) per annum respectively.

Interest rates are repriced at intervals of within one day to one month.

16.	S hare capital

Company
2015 2014

No. of
shares

No. of
shares

’000 ’000

Issued and fully-paid ordinary shares, with no par value:
At beginning and end of the year 1,196,560 1,196,560

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital and retained earnings of the Group. The 
Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as profit attributable to equity holders of 
the Company divided by total shareholders’ equity. The Board also recommends the level of dividends to shareholders.

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings 
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to 
capital management during the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

17.	R eserves

 Group
Retained
earnings

Translation
reserve

Fair value
reserve

 Hedging
reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2015 1,964,264 33,235 79,226 – 2,076,725

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 40,331 – – – 40,331
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets:
–	net change in fair value – – (46,235) – (46,235)
–	transfer to profit or loss on disposal – – (22,065) – (22,065)
Exchange differences arising on 

consolidation of foreign subsidiaries – 3,141 – – 3,141
Share of other comprehensive income of 

associates, net of tax – (918) (169) (339) (1,426)
Total other comprehensive income, 

net of tax – 2,223 (68,469) (339) (66,585)
Total comprehensive income for the year 40,331 2,223 (68,469) (339) (26,254)

Transaction with owners of the Company, 

recorded directly in equity
Distribution to owners
Dividends to owners (71,794) – – – (71,794)
Total transaction with owners (71,794) – – – (71,794)

At 31 December 2015 1,932,801 35,458 10,757 (339) 1,978,677

Group
Retained
earnings

Translation
reserve

Fair value
reserve Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2014 1,674,723 16,553 255,313 1,946,589

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 43,126 – – 43,126
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale financial assets:
–	net change in fair value – – 142,421 142,421
–	transfer to profit or loss on disposal – – (309) (309)
Exchange differences arising on consolidation of 

foreign subsidiaries – 11,859 – 11,859
Share of other comprehensive income of  

associates, net of tax – 4,823 10 4,833
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax – 16,682 142,122 158,804
Total comprehensive income for the year 43,126 16,682 142,122 201,930

Transfer 318,209 – (318,209) –

Transaction with owners of the Company, 

recorded directly in equity
Distribution to owners
Dividends to owners (71,794) – – (71,794)
Total transaction with owners (71,794) – – (71,794)

At 31 December 2014 1,964,264 33,235 79,226 2,076,725
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17.	R eserves (CONT'D)

The translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 

of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from the functional currency of the Company. 

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments held until 

the investments are derecognised or impaired.

The hedging reserve comprises the fair value changes on the derivative financial instruments designated as hedging 

instruments in cash flow hedges that are determined to be an effective hedge.

The reserves of the Company represent retained earnings.

Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

At 1 January 769,739 961,120
Loss for the year (17,714) (119,587)
Dividends paid  (71,794) (71,794)
At 31 December 680,231 769,739

18.	I nterest-bearing liabilities

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 294,540 315,063
Total borrowing 294,540 315,063

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans 220,674 185,740
Unsecured bank loan – 157,620
Total borrowings 220,674 343,360

Maturity of liabilities
Within 1 year 220,674 343,360
After 1 year but within 5 years 294,540 315,063
Total borrowings 515,214 658,423

The secured bank loans are generally secured by mortgages over the Group’s development properties in Singapore 

and the PRC, legal assignment of all rights, titles, interests and benefits under contracts in respect of the properties and 

corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

The amounts due from certain subsidiaries amounting to $448,548,000 (2014: $631,829,000) are subordinated to prior 

repayment of certain bank loans. Refer to note 32 for the corporate guarantees issued by the Company in respect of 

the bank loans.
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

18.	I nterest-bearing liabilities (CONT'D)

The interest-bearing liabilities are secured on the following assets:

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Development properties 1,051,579 1,109,474

The Singapore dollar secured bank loans bear interest at rates ranging from 1.10% to 2.32% (2014: 0.86% to 1.13%) 

per annum.

The Renminbi secured bank loan bears interest at rates ranging from 4.99% to 6.30% (2014: 6.30% to 6.46%) per annum.

In 2014, the unsecured bank loan bears interest at rates ranging from 1.55% to 1.57% per annum.

19.	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Balance
as at

1 January
2014

Recognised 
in profit

or loss 
(note 23) 

Exchange
differences 

Balance
as at

31 December
2014

Recognised 
in profit

or loss
(note 23)

Balance
as at

31 December
2015

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Deferred tax 

liabilities/(assets)
Property, plant and 

equipment 81 (13) – 68 (29) 39
Investment properties 10,250 1,081 – 11,331 70 11,401
Development properties (65) 1,857 (20) 1,772 (136) 1,636
Investments 1,966 509 – 2,475 (1,800) 675
Others 490 (159) – 331 (83) 248
Total 12,722 3,275 (20) 15,977 (1,978) 13,999

Company
Deferred tax 

liabilities/(assets)
Property, plant and 

equipment 71 (19) – 52 (32) 20
Investment property 1,452 726 – 2,178 – 2,178
Development property (191) (5) – (196) 77 (119)
Others 225 (123) – 102 18 120
Total 1,557 579 – 2,136 63 2,199

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of deductible temporary differences amounting to $179.6 million 

(2014: $200.7 million) and $3.3 million (2014: $9.6 million) for the Group and the Company respectively. The deductible 

temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 

of the deductible temporary differences because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against 

which the Group can utilise the benefits.
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20.	T rade payables

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Expected cash flows in the next:
1 – 30 days 7,046 6,133 272 716
31 – 60 days 15,586 5,505 58 672
61 – 90 days 12,633 4,567 545 1,719
More than 90 days, but less than 1 year 39,265 51,397 3,256 9,432

74,530 67,602 4,131 12,539

Trade payables of the Group and the Company comprise mainly amounts owing to contractors for the construction 

of/additions to the development properties/investment properties. Included in trade payables is $567,000 (2014: nil) 

which relates to amounts due to related corporations.

21.	O ther payables

Group Company

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accrued expenses 8,652 6,816 4,003 3,016
Deposits 20,710 21,649 4,294 5,202
Deposits from a related company 592 562 592 562
Forward exchange contracts 842 429 842 429
Income received in advance 24,993 778 228 266
Property tax payable 414 213 246 197
Interest payable and others 3,093 2,371 1,147 1,078

59,296 32,818 11,352 10,750

Included in the income received in advance is $24,112,000 (2014: nil) which relates to the sales consideration billed to 

purchasers of the properties under development where revenue is to be recognised on completion.

22.	O perating segments

Business Segments

The Group has three reportable segments as described below. For each of the reportable segment, the Group’s chief 

operating decision maker reviews internal management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary 

describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Property development:	 The development, construction and sale of development properties.

Property investment:		  The holding and management of investment properties.

Investments:		  The holding of investments in equity and debt securities.

Other operations include investment holding company and provision of management services. 
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Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2015

22.	O perating segments (CONT'D)

Business Segments (cont'd)

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on 

segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s 

chief operating decision maker. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such 

information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate 

within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

Property
development

Property
investment Investments

Other
operations

Inter-
segment

eliminations Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015
External revenue * 285,422 64,335 21,836 – – 371,593
Inter-segment revenue – 2,157 – 4,075 (6,232) –
Interest income 3,098 63 – 7,693 (7,693) 3,161
Interest expense (5,079) – – (2,701) 4,684 (3,096)
Depreciation (23) (94) – (192) – (309)
Reportable segment profit/

(loss) before taxation 9,287 12,262 33,737 (9,186) 2,587 48,687
Share of profit of associates – – – – – 13,936
Other material non-cash 

item:
–	Write-back of diminution 

in value on a development 

property 6,000 – – – – 6,000
Reportable segment assets 2,125,225 1,290,507 366,794 1,141,998 (1,762,931) 3,161,593
Interests in associates – – – – – 560,478
Capital expenditure ** 30 2,887 – 219 – 3,136
Reportable segment liabilities 1,067,973 81,678 276,426 594,932 (1,371,969) 649,040

2014
External revenue * 2,394 71,105 25,516 – – 99,015
Inter-segment revenue – 2,038 – 4,316 (6,354) –
Interest income 1,734 151 – 8,760 (8,760) 1,885
Interest expense (247) – – (2,917) 3,072 (92)
Depreciation (17) (83) – (233) – (333)
Reportable segment (loss)/

profit before taxation (80,132) (948) 24,733 (4,395) (8,301) (69,043)
Share of profit of associates – – – – – 126,094
Other material non-cash 

item:
–	Allowance for diminution 

in value on a development 

property (74,986) – – – – (74,986)
Reportable segment assets 1,998,576 1,275,876 639,474 1,404,800 (1,948,332) 3,370,394
Interests in associates – – – – – 547,968
Capital expenditure ** 63 1,915 – 557 – 2,535
Reportable segment liabilities 1,013,169 83,059 510,505 678,031 (1,525,921) 758,843

* 	 External revenue from property development relates to revenue recognised on development property sold using the percentage of 
completion method.

** 	 Comprises property, plant and equipment of $428,000 (2014: $747,000) and expenditure on investment properties of $2,708,000 (2014: 
$1,788,000).

88



22.	O perating segments (CONT'D)

Business Segments (cont'd)

Reconciliation of reportable segments
Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Profit before taxation
Total profit/(loss) before taxation for reportable segment 48,687 (69,043)
Share of profit of associates 13,936 126,094
Consolidated profit before taxation 62,623 57,051

Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 3,161,593 3,370,394
Interests in associates 560,478 547,968
Consolidated total assets 3,722,071 3,918,362

Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 649,040 758,843
Unallocated current and deferred tax liabilities 38,453 26,893
Consolidated total liabilities 687,493 785,736

Geographical Segments

The operations of the Group are principally located in Singapore.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical 

location of revenue sources. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Singapore
Other

countries Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Revenue 349,757 21,836 371,593

Non-current assets # 1,148,512 251,943 1,400,455

Reportable segment assets 2,535,090 626,503 3,161,593

2014
Revenue 73,499 25,516 99,015

Non-current assets # 1,177,394 591,989 1,769,383

Reportable segment assets 2,450,337 920,057 3,370,394

#	 Include investment properties, property, plant and equipment, investment in available-for-sale financial assets and club memberships.

Major customers

There are no major customers which solely account for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.
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Notes to the financial statements
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23.	T ax expense

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Current tax expense
Current year 25,004 9,904
Adjustment in prior years (734) 746

24,270 10,650
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (2,077) 2,911
Adjustment in prior years 99 364

(1,978) 3,275
22,292 13,925

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit before taxation 62,623 57,051
Share of profit of associates, net of tax (13,936) (126,094)

48,687 (69,043)

Tax using Singapore tax rate of 17% (2014: 17%) 8,277 (11,737)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 60 19,124
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 319 (6,377)
Non-deductible expenses 19,934 12,634
Tax exempt income (878) (902)
Adjustment in prior years (635) 1,110
Utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised (4,265) (474)
Tax incentives (353) (293)
Others (167) 840

22,292 13,925

Judgement is required in determining the deductibility of certain expenses and taxability of certain income during the 

estimation of the provision for taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 

based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 

from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the provision for tax and deferred tax 

provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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24.	P rofit for the year

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at profit for the year:

Group

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Audit fees paid to:
–	Auditors of the Company  24(a) 418 429
–	Other auditors of the Company 5 5
Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company 24(b) 262 350
Direct operating costs for income-generating  

investment properties 17,499 15,485
Dividend income from investments (9,347) (12,484)
Interest income from investments (12,489) (13,032)
Staff costs 24(c) 10,279 8,610

(a) Audit fees paid to auditors of the Company: 432 458
–	capitalised into development properties (14) (29)
–	charged to profit or loss 418 429

(b) Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company: 270 361
–	capitalised into development properties (8) (11)
–	charged to profit or loss 262 350

(c) Staff costs:
–	wages, salaries and benefits-in-kind 11,210 10,672
–	contributions to defined contribution plans 1,220 1,107

12,430 11,779
–	capitalised into development properties (2,151) (3,169)
–	charged to profit or loss 10,279 8,610

(d) Directors’ remuneration:
–	charged to profit or loss 1,869 1,820

(e) Finance costs:
–	interest on borrowings paid and payable to banks 11,751 7,981
–	other financing costs 1,294 1,359

13,045 9,340
–	interest on borrowings paid and payable to banks capitalised into 

development properties (8,655) (7,889)
–	other financing costs capitalised into development properties (966) (1,344)
–	charged to profit or loss 3,424 107
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Notes to the financial statements
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25.	O ther income

Group

Note 2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Interest income 25(a) 3,161 1,885
Others 3,867 1,778

7,028 3,663

(a)	 Interest income:
–	fixed deposits/current accounts 3,412 1,792
–	others 75 154

3,487 1,946
–	capitalised into development properties (326) (61)
–	credited to profit or loss 3,161 1,885

26.	O ther operating expenses

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Exchange loss:
–	effective portion of changes in fair value of fair value hedges (17,603) (7,827)
–	net change in fair value of forward exchange contracts 548 (8,254)
–	revaluation of bank loan and cash balances held in foreign currencies 9,601 5,324
–	realised forward exchange contracts (net) 28,530 18,396
–	others (321) (81)

20,755 7,558
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 2
Fixtures, plant and equipment included in investment property written off 

(refer to note 5) – 466
(Write-back of)/Allowance for impairment loss on trade receivables (61) 1,055
Irrecoverable GST expense 65 9

20,759 9,090

27.	E arnings per share

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

(i) Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 40,331 43,126

’000 ’000

(ii) Issued ordinary shares at beginning and end of the year 1,196,560 1,196,560
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28.	 Dividends

The following first and final exempt (one-tier) dividends were declared and paid by the Company:
Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

6.0 cents per share (2014: 6.0 cents) 71,794 71,794

After the reporting date, the following first and final exempt (one-tier) dividends were proposed by the directors. These 

exempt (one-tier) dividends have not been provided for:

Company

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

6.0 cents per share (2014: 6.0 cents) 71,794 71,794

29.	C ommitments

(i)	O perating lease

The Group leases out its investment properties, Wheelock Place and Scotts Square Retail, held under operating 

leases during the financial year. The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases 

are as follows:

Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 43,286 52,553
After 1 year but within 2 years 27,208 30,134
After 2 years but within 3 years 18,496 12,549
After 3 years but within 4 years 8,941 5,534
After 4 years but within 5 years 5,995 4,662
After 5 years 2,264 6,770

106,190 112,202

As at 31 December 2015, there is no outstanding operating lease receivables commitments from a related 

company (2014: $276,000).

The lease typically runs for an initial period from 2 to 5 years. The non-cancellable operating lease receivables 

have not taken into account the potential new and renewal of leases and revision of rental rates after the 

expiry of these leases.

(ii)	C ommitments
Group

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Commitments in respect of:
–	capital expenditure contracted for the additions to the investment 

property but not provided for 235 1,052
–	development expenditure contracted for the construction of the 

development properties but not provided for 152,530 221,324
152,765 222,376
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Notes to the financial statements
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30.	R elated parties

Transactions with key management personnel 

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,845 1,799
Contributions to defined contribution plans 24 21

1,869 1,820

Other related party transactions 

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant related party transactions carried out at terms 

agreed upon between the Group and its related parties during the financial year are as follows:

Group
2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Rental income received from a related company 653 1,599
Brokerage and related fees paid to a related company 4 4
Capital expenditure and advertising and promotion expenses paid/payable 

to a related company 1,226 –
Project consultancy and design service fees paid to a related company 953 883

31.	F inancial instruments

Financial risk management

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 Credit risk

•	 Liquidity risk

•	 Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 

and processes for measuring and managing risk.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 

framework. The Board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for overseeing 

the Group’s risk management policies. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports regularly to the Board of 

Directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 

systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through 

its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 

management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the 

risks faced by the Group. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. 

Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of 

which are reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of customers or other parties to settle their financial and 

contractual obligations to the Group as and when they fall due. Management has a credit policy in place and the 

exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Monies due from the customers are followed up, reviewed on a regular basis to understand the reasons of non-payment 

or delay in payment, if any, so that appropriate actions can be implemented promptly.

The principal risk to which the Company is exposed in respect of financial guarantee contracts is credit risk in 

connection with the guarantee contracts it has issued to banks for credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries. To mitigate 

the risk, management continually monitors the risk and has established processes including performing credit 

evaluations of the subsidiaries. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the 

reporting date is disclosed in note 32.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimates of incurred losses in respect of trade and 

other receivables. The main component of this allowance is specific loss that relates to individually significant exposure.

The allowance account in respect of trade and other receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the 

Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible. At that point, the financial asset is considered 

irrecoverable and the amount charged to the allowance account is written off against the carrying amount of the 

impaired financial asset.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions of significant standing. The Group limits its 

credit risk exposure in respect of investments by only investing in liquid securities which are placed with a diversity of 

creditworthy financial institutions.

The carrying amounts of financial assets represent the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s and the Company’s 

maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Group Company
Carrying amount Carrying amount

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Amounts due from subsidiaries * 6 – – 571,381 422,841
Investments 9 251,814 591,828 – –
Trade and accrued receivables 12 32,181 8,571 736 612
Amounts due from related corporations 13 13 36 13 36
Other receivables ** 14 6,126 7,219 843 864
Cash and cash equivalents 15 611,565 408,515 466,364 365,165

901,699 1,016,169 1,039,337 789,518

*	 Excludes quasi-equity loans to subsidiaries of $473,663,000 (2014: $739,802,000) for the Company. 
**	 Excludes prepaid expenses of $2,322,000 (2014: $289,000) and $230,000 (2014: $88,000) for the Group and the Company respectively.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 

liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group actively manages its operating cash 

flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that all repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall 

prudent liquidity management, the Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash 

flows. All the properties under development have adequate cash or credit facilities to ensure availability of funding till 

project completion. 
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

The following are the contractual maturity of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities, including estimated 

interest payments:

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

Within
1 year

After 1 year
but within

5 years
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 515,214 533,862 232,917 300,945
Trade payables 74,530 74,530 74,530 –
Other payables * 33,461 33,461 33,461 –

623,205 641,853 340,908 300,945

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts 842 842 842 –

624,047 642,695 341,750 300,945

2014
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 658,423 674,817 351,170 323,647
Trade payables 67,602 67,602 67,602 –
Other payables * 31,611 31,611 31,611 –

757,636 774,030 450,383 323,647

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts 429 429 429 –
Forward exchange contracts (136) (136) (136) –

293 293 293 –
757,929 774,323 450,676 323,647

Company
2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 4,131 4,131 4,131 –
Other payables * 10,282 10,282 10,282 –
Amounts due to subsidiaries 319,068 319,068 319,068 –

333,481 333,481 333,481 –

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts 842 842 842 –

334,323 334,323 334,323 –

2014
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables 12,539 12,539 12,539 –
Other payables * 10,055 10,055 10,055 –
Amounts due to subsidiaries 261,663 261,663 261,663 –

284,257 284,257 284,257 –

Derivative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts 429 429 429 –
Forward exchange contracts (136) (136) (136) –

293 293 293 –
284,550 284,550 284,550 –

*	 Excludes income received in advance and forward exchange contracts of $25,835,000 (2014: $1,207,000) and $1,070,000 (2014: $695,000) 
for the Group and the Company respectively.
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

In addition to the above table, the Company also has liquidity risk arising from issued financial guarantees to certain 

banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries amounting to $722,100,000 (2014: $1,078,070,000), 

which fall within the 1 year category (refer to note 32).

The maturity analysis shows the undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities on the 

basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. It is not expected that the cash flows in the maturity analysis could 

occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices, 

will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the Group’s debt obligations and 

deposits with financial institutions. Interest rates on borrowings and deposits are determined based on floating market 

rates. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risk.

Exposure to interest rate risk 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s and the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments 

were:

Group Company

Carrying amount Carrying amount

2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 606,376 405,254 465,625 364,457
Financial liabilities (515,214) (658,423) – –

91,162 (253,169) 465,625 364,457

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 50 basis point (bp) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before 

taxation by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Group Company

Profit before taxation Profit before taxation

50 bp
Increase

50 bp
Decrease

50 bp
Increase

50 bp
Decrease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Variable rate instruments 456 (456) 2,328 (2,328)

2014
Variable rate instruments (1,266) 1,266 1,822 (1,822)
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on investments and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than 

the respective functional currencies of the Group’s entities. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the Hong 

Kong Dollars (HKD), the Great British Pound (GBP), the United States Dollars (USD) and the Euro Dollars (EUR).

In respect of non-monetary and monetary assets and liabilities held in currency other than Singapore dollars, the Group 

uses forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency risks arising from its HKD, GBP and EUR denominated equity 

securities and USD denominated debt securities. Most of the forward exchange contracts would have maturities of less 

than 3 months after the reporting date. Where necessary, the forward exchange contracts are rolled over at maturity.

The fair values of the forward exchange contracts designated as hedging instruments comprise derivative asset of nil 

(2014: $136,000) and derivative liability of $397,000 (2014: $359,000) as at 31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has 2 (2014: 4) forward exchange contracts amounting to $235,864,000 (2014: 

$519,254,000).

Exposure to currency risk

Balances are denominated in the following currencies:

HKD GBP USD EUR Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2015
Investments 110,280 – 141,534 – 251,814
Other receivables – – 3,969 – 3,969
Cash and cash equivalents – 8 274 – 282
Trade payables – (13) – – (13)
Other payables (6) (22) – (16) (44)

110,274 (27) 145,777 (16) 256,008

2014
Investments 318,508 104,420 148,860 20,040 591,828
Other receivables – – 4,403 – 4,403
Cash and cash equivalents – 9 23,317 – 23,326
Interest-bearing liability – – (157,865) – (157,865)
Other payables (6) (110) (40) (16) (172)

318,502 104,319 18,675 20,024 461,520

Company
2015
Amounts due from subsidiaries 109,006 – 489,995 – 599,001
Cash and cash equivalents – – 167 – 167
Trade payables – (13) – – (13)
Other payables – (7) – – (7)

109,006 (20) 490,162 – 599,148

2014
Amounts due from subsidiaries 271,234 71,296 339,085 17,789 699,404
Other receivables – – 13 – 13
Cash and cash equivalents – – 23,025 – 23,025
Other payables – (103) (20) – (123)

271,234 71,193 362,103 17,789 722,319
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Currency risk (cont'd)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the following major currencies against the functional currency of each of the Group entities at 

the reporting date held by the Group would increase/(decrease) equity and profit before taxation by the amounts 

shown below. Similarly, a 10% weakening would have the equal but opposite effect. This analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Group Company

Profit
before

taxation Equity

Profit
before

taxation Equity

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015
HKD (1) 11,028 10,901 –
GBP (3) – (2) –
USD 14,578 – 49,016 –
EUR (1) – – –

2014
HKD (1) 31,851 27,124 –
GBP (10) 10,442 7,119 –
USD 1,868 – 36,210 –
EUR (2) 2,004 1,779 –

Equity price risk - Sensitivity analysis

The Group has investment in quoted equity securities. A 10% increase/(decrease) in the underlying equity prices at the 

reporting dates would increase/(decrease) equity by the following amounts:

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Quoted equity investment available-for-sale 11,028 44,297

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Accounting classification and fair values 

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value 

hierarchy are as follows. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 

measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value
– derivative

instruments
Loans and

receivables
Available-

for-sale

Other 
financial
liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2015

Financial assets 
measured at 
fair value

Investments 9 – – 251,814 – 251,814 251,814 – – 251,814

Financial assets 
not measured 
at fair value

Trade and accrued 
receivables 12 – 32,181 – – 32,181

Amounts due 
from related 
corporations 13 – 13 – – 13

Other 
receivables * 14 – 6,126 – – 6,126

Cash and cash 
equivalents 15 – 611,565 – – 611,565

– 649,885 – – 649,885

Financial liability 
measured at 
fair value

Forward exchange 
contracts 21 842 – – – 842 – 842 – 842

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value

Interest-bearing 
liabilities 18 – – – 515,214 515,214 – 511,990 – 511,990

Trade payables 20 – – – 74,530 74,530

Other payables ** 21 – – – 33,461 33,461

– – – 623,205 623,205
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Accounting classification and fair values (cont'd)
Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value
– derivative

instruments
Loans and

receivables
Available-

for-sale

Other 
financial
liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2014

Financial assets 
measured at 
fair value

Investments 9 – – 591,828 – 591,828 591,828 – – 591,828

Forward exchange 
contracts 14 136 – – – 136 – 136 – 136

136 – 591,828 – 591,964

Financial assets 
not measured 
at fair value

Trade and accrued 
receivables 12 – 8,571 – – 8,571

Amounts due 
from related 
corporations 13 – 36 – – 36

Other 
receivables * 14 – 7,083 – – 7,083

Cash and cash 
equivalents 15 – 408,515 – – 408,515

– 424,205 – – 424,205

Financial liability 
measured at 
fair value

Forward exchange 
contracts 21 429 – – – 429 – 429 – 429

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value

Interest-bearing 
liabilities 18 – – – 658,423 658,423 – 653,791 – 653,791

Trade payables 20 – – – 67,602 67,602

Other payables ** 21 – – – 31,611 31,611

– – – 757,636 757,636
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Accounting classification and fair values (cont'd)
Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value
– derivative

instruments
Loans and

receivables
Available-

for-sale

Other
financial
liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

2015

Financial assets 
not measured 
at fair value

Amounts due from 
subsidiaries *** 6 – 571,381 – – 571,381 – 573,923 – 573,923

Trade and accrued 
receivables 12 – 736 – – 736

Amounts due 
from related 
corporations 13 – 13 – – 13

Other 
receivables * 14 – 843 – – 843

Cash and cash 
equivalents 15 – 466,364 – – 466,364

– 1,039,337 – – 1,039,337

Financial liability 
measured at 
fair value

Forward exchange 
contracts 21 842 – – – 842 – 842 – 842

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value

Trade payables 20 – – – 4,131 4,131

Other payables ** 21 – – – 10,282 10,282

Amounts due 
to subsidiaries 6 – – – 319,068 319,068

– – – 333,481 333,481
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Accounting classification and fair values (cont'd)
Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value
– derivative

instruments
Loans and

receivables
Available-

for-sale

Other
financial
liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

2014

Financial asset 
measured at 
fair value

Forward exchange 
contracts 14 136 – – – 136 – 136 – 136

Financial assets 
not measured 
at fair value

Amounts due from 
subsidiaries *** 6 – 422,841 – – 422,841 – 428,343 – 428,343

Trade and accrued 
receivables 12 – 612 – – 612

Amounts due 
from related 
corporations 13 – 36 – – 36

Other 
receivables * 14 – 728 – – 728

Cash and cash 
equivalents 15 – 365,165 – – 365,165

– 789,382 – – 789,382

Financial liability 
measured at 
fair value

Forward exchange 
contracts 21 429 – – – 429 – 429 – 429

Financial 
liabilities not 
measured at 
fair value

Trade payables 20 – – – 12,539 12,539

Other payables ** 21 – – – 10,055 10,055

Amounts due 
to subsidiaries 6 – – – 261,663 261,663

– – – 284,257 284,257

*	 Excludes prepaid expenses and forward exchange contracts of $2,322,000 (2014: $425,000) and $230,000 (2014: $224,000) for the Group 
and the Company respectively.

**	 Excludes income received in advance and forward exchange contracts of $25,835,000 (2014: $1,207,000) and $1,070,000 (2014: $695,000) 
for the Group and the Company respectively.

***	 Excludes quasi-equity loans to subsidiaries of $473,663,000 (2014: $739,802,000) for the Company.
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31.	F inancial instruments (CONT'D)

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following tables show the valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair values, as well as the 

significant unobservable inputs used.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique
Significant

unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship
between key unobservable

inputs and fair value
measurement

Group
Derivatives The fair value of financial

derivatives instrument is

derived from valuation from

the bank, which were based on

valuation techniques in which

significant inputs were based on

observable market data.

Not applicable Not applicable

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Type Valuation technique
Significant

unobservable inputs

Group
Interest-bearing liabilities Discounted cash flows Not applicable

Company
Amounts due from subsidiaries Discounted cash flows Not applicable

32.	F inancial guarantee contracts

There are no terms and conditions attached to the financial guarantees that would have a material effect on the 

amount, timing and uncertainty of the Group’s and the Company’s future cash flows. The Company issued financial 

guarantees to certain banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries amounting to $722,100,000 

(2014: $1,078,070,000), of which the amount utilised at the reporting date was $534,707,000 (2014: $678,745,000). 

The periods in which the financial guarantees will expire are as follows:

2015 2014

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 285,100 397,865
After 1 year but within 5 years 437,000 680,205

722,100 1,078,070

Management considers that the possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has 

been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as at the reporting date.
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33.	C ontingent liability

On 16 August 2011, Mer Vue Developments Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, was served with a Writ of Summons 

in respect of a claim by The Management Corporation Strata Title Plan No. 3322, the management corporation of The 

Sea View condominium (Development), for alleged defects in the Development. The main contractor, the architect 

and the mechanical and electrical engineer were named as co-defendants in the same action. 

The subsidiary filed its defence claiming indemnity and/or contribution against the main contractor and architect.

At the reporting date, the directors of the Company are of the view that it is presently not practicable to provide an 

estimate of the financial effects, if any, of the above.
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Shareholding Statistics
As at 23 March 2016

Issued and Fully Paid-Up Capital	 :	 $1,055,901,224

Number of Ordinary Shares Issued	 :	 1,196,559,876 

Voting Rights	 :	 One vote per Ordinary Share

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

No. of Shares

Name of Shareholders Direct Interests Deemed Interests %

Star Attraction Limited 907,459,746 – 75.84
Wheelock Investments Limited – 907,459,746 75.84
Wheelock and Company Limited – 907,459,746 75.84
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC and its subsidiaries – 71,452,900 5.97
Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited – 71,452,900 5.97

Notes:
(i)	 Star Attraction Limited (SAL) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock Investments Limited (WIL). Accordingly, pursuant to Section 7 of the 

Companies Act, Cap. 50, WIL is deemed to be interested in the 907,459,746 Ordinary Shares by virtue of its interest in SAL.

(ii)	 WIL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock and Company Limited (WCL). In accordance with Section 7 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, WCL, by 
virtue of its interest in WIL, is deemed to be interested in the 907,459,746 Ordinary Shares, over which WIL has a deemed interest.

(iii)	 Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited (AAM Asia), a subsidiary of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC (AAM), acts as an investment manager for 
various clients/funds and has the power to exercise or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the securities and has the power to dispose 
of, or control the disposal of, the securities. The registered holder(s) of the securities is the client’s or fund’s custodian. The deemed interest of AAM 
and its subsidiaries (including AAM Asia) (collectively, the Aberdeen Group) relates to Ordinary Shares held under various accounts managed or 
advised by the Aberdeen Group. 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS
% OF

SHAREHOLDERS
NO. OF 

SHARES HELD
% OF

SHARES

1 to 99 172 2.13 4,463 0.00
100 to 1,000 1,005 12.46 860,869 0.07
1,001 to 10,000 4,793 59.43 24,881,425 2.08
10,001 to 1,000,000 2,068 25.64 94,725,480 7.92
1,000,001 and above 27 0.34 1,076,087,639 89.93
Total 8,065 100.00 1,196,559,876 100.00

Approximately 18% of the Company’s Ordinary Shares are held in the hands of the public. Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited has accordingly been complied with.
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20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
(as shown in the Register of Members)

NO. NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS
NO. OF

SHARES
% OF ISSUED

SHARE CAPITAL

1 Star Attraction Limited 907,229,746 75.82
2 Bnp Paribas Securities Services 60,379,600 5.05
3 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 20,725,457 1.73
4 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 19,475,255 1.63
5 Dbs Nominees Pte Ltd 13,406,456 1.12
6 Domitian Investment Pte Ltd 6,234,000 0.52
7 Hsbc (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 5,585,569 0.47
8 Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd 3,828,600 0.32
9 Ocbc Securities Private Ltd 3,376,919 0.28
10 Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 3,304,244 0.28
11 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 3,272,236 0.27
12 Uob Kay Hian Pte Ltd 3,021,124 0.25
13 Chong Kah Min 2,540,000 0.21
14 Dbs Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 2,461,700 0.20
15 Oversea Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 2,434,000 0.20
16 Soo Eng Hiong 2,232,000 0.19
17 Starich Investments Pte Ltd 2,212,000 0.18
18 Ocbc Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 2,129,705 0.18
19 Cimb Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 2,124,142 0.18
20 Chng Gim Huat 1,760,000 0.15

Total 1,067,732,753 89.23
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Property Summary

PROPERTY NAME/
LOCATION HELD BY

SITE AREA
(sq. metre) TENURE

APPROXIMATE
GROSS

FLOOR AREA
(sq. metre)

TOTAL
NUMBER

OF UNITS
DATE OF

COMPLETION

EFFECTIVE
GROUP

INTEREST
(%)

Commercial

Wheelock Place

comprising 16-storey

office tower, 5-level

office and shopping

podium, 2-basement

levels of shops & 

car parks situated at

501 Orchard Road

Everbilt

Developers

Pte Ltd

7,847 99 years

lease

commencing

from

15.09.1990

43,280 – Completed 100

Residential

Ardmore Three

a condominium

development

situated at

3 Ardmore Park

Botanica 

Pte. Ltd.

5,108 Freehold 15,826 84 Completed 100

The Panorama

a condominium

development

situated at

Ang Mo Kio Ave 2

Pinehill

Investments

Pte. Ltd.

18,482 99 years

lease

commencing

from

08.04.2013

71,156 698 2017 100

雍景山

a residential

development

situated at

Fuyang City,

Zhejiang, People’s

Republic of China

富汇房地产
开发(富阳)
有限公司

298,288 70 years

lease

commencing

from

28.03.2012

313,199 1,508 2020 100

Mixed

Scotts Square

a residential-cum-

retail development

comprising 2

residential towers

with 4-level

shopping podium &

4-level of car parks

situated at

6 & 8 Scotts Road

Wheelock

Properties

(Singapore)

Limited

6,609 Freehold 30,538

(Residential)

12,161

(Retail)

338

(Residential)

Completed 100
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Notice Of Annual General Meeting

WHEELOCK PROPERTIES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Company Registration No. 197201797H

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 43rd Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Grand Ballroom, Level 3, 

Hilton Singapore, 581 Orchard Road, Singapore 238883 on Friday, 29 April 2016 at 2.00 p.m. to transact the following business:

As Ordinary Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2015 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Resolution 1

2. To approve a first and final dividend of 6 cents tax exempt (one-tier) dividend per share for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Resolution 2

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of $361,100 (2014: $344,000) for the financial year ended 

31 December 2015.

Resolution 3

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 109 of the Constitution of the Company:

a)	 Mr Stephen Tin Hoi Ng Resolution 4

b)	 Mr Greg Fook Hin Seow Resolution 5

c)	 Mr Tan Zing Yan Resolution 6

5. To re-elect Mr Lee Wai Chung retiring pursuant to Article 118 of the Constitution of the Company. Resolution 7

6. To re-appoint Mr Frank Yung-Cheng Yung, the Director previously re-appointed to hold office until 

the 43rd Annual General Meeting of the Company pursuant to the then Section 153(6) of the 

Companies Act, Cap. 50.

Resolution 8

7. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. Resolution 9

109



Notice Of Annual General Meeting

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:

8. That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the rules, guidelines and measures 

issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby 

given to the Directors of the Company to:

Resolution 10

(i)	 issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”); or

(ii)	 convertible securities; or

(iii)	 additional convertible securities issued pursuant to adjustments; or

(iv)	 shares arising from the conversion of the securities in (ii) and (iii) above,

(whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise or in pursuance of any offer, agreement or option 

made or granted by the Directors during the continuance of this authority or thereafter) at any time 

and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 

may in their absolute discretion deem fit (notwithstanding that the issue thereof may take place after 

the next or any ensuing annual or other general meeting of the Company), 

provided that:

1)	 the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to 

be issued in pursuance of convertible securities made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) 

does not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the 

capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below) (“Issued 

Shares”), provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata 

basis to Shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of 

convertible securities made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 20% of 

the total number of Issued Shares; 

2)	 (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose 

of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph 

(1) above, the percentage of Issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued 

shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Resolution 

is passed, after adjusting for:

(i)	 new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities; 

(ii)	 new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards 

outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution; and 

(iii)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares; 

3)	 in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 

rules, guidelines and measures issued by the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such 

compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution for the time being of the 

Company; and
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As Special Business (CONT'D)

4)	 (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting), the authority conferred by 

this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the 

Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

9. That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to make purchases from time 

to time (whether by way of market purchases or off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) 

of ordinary shares up to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of 

this Resolution or as at the date of the last Annual General Meeting of the Company (whichever is 

the higher) at any price to be determined by the Indirect Investments Committee up to but not 

exceeding the Maximum Price (as defined in the Addendum dated 13 April 2016 to Shareholders of 

the Company, being an addendum to the Annual Report of the Company for the year ended 

31 December 2015), in accordance with the Guidelines on Share Purchases set out in Appendix II of 

the Company’s Circular to Shareholders dated 30 June 2002 as supplemented by the amendments 

contained in the addendum to Shareholders dated 3 July 2006 and 3 April 2012 (the “Guidelines on 

Share Purchases”) and this mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general 

meeting, continue in force until the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 

is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier (the “Share Purchase Mandate”). 

Resolution 11

10. To transact any other business as may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of The Board

Pearly Oon

Company Secretary

Singapore

13 April 2016

Notes:

1.	 (a)	 A Member of the Company who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies 

to attend and vote in his stead. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than one proxy, the proportion 

of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the form of proxy. 

(b)	 A Member of the Company who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to 

attend, speak and vote at the meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 

different share or shares held by such member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two 

proxies, the number of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall be specified in the form 

of proxy. 

“Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. 

2.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 A Member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote on its 

behalf. The appointment of proxy must be executed under seal or under the hand of its duly authorised officer or attorney.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 501 Orchard 

Road #11-01, Wheelock Place, Singapore 238880 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.
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Explanatory Notes on Ordinary Business to be transacted:

Resolution 4

Mr Stephen Tin Hoi Ng is the executive Chairman of the Company. He is also the Deputy Chairman of Wheelock and Company 

Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding company. There are no other relationships (including immediate family relationships) 

between Mr Ng and the other Directors, the Company or any 10% shareholder of the Company. The profile of Mr Ng is set out 

on page 12 of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 5

Mr Greg Fook Hin Seow, upon re-election, shall remain as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and member of the Audit 

& Risk Management and Remuneration Committees. Mr Seow is considered by the Board of Directors to be independent and 

non-executive. There are no relationships (including immediate family relationships) between Mr Seow and the other Directors, 

the Company or any 10% shareholder of the Company. The profile of Mr Seow is set out on page 13 of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 6

Mr Tan Zing Yan is an executive Director of the Company. There are no other relationships (including immediate family 

relationships) between Mr Tan and the other Directors, the Company or any 10% shareholder of the Company. The profile of 

Mr Tan is set out on page 16 of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 7

Mr Lee Wai Chung is a non-executive Director of the Company. He is also the Director and Group Financial Controller of 

Wheelock Corporate Services Limited and Wheelock Properties (Hong Kong) Limited, both wholly-owned subsidiaries of 

Wheelock and Company Limited, the Company’s ultimate holding company. There are no other relationships (including 

immediate family relationships) between Mr Lee and the other Directors, the Company or any 10% shareholder of the Company. 

The profile of Mr Lee is set out on page 12 of the Annual Report. 

Resolution 8

Mr Frank Yung-Cheng Yung, upon re-appointment, shall remain as the Lead Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit & 

Risk Management Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr Yung is considered by the Board of 

Directors to be independent and non-executive. There are no relationships (including immediate family relationships) 

between Mr Yung and the other Directors, the Company or any 10% shareholder of the Company. The profile of Mr Yung is 

set out on page 13 of the Annual Report. 

Explanatory Notes on Special Business to be transacted:

Resolution 10

The Ordinary Resolution 10 proposed above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the 

above Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting, to issue shares and/or convertible securities in the capital of the 

Company and to issue shares in pursuance of such convertible securities, without seeking any further approval from 

Shareholders in general meeting, up to a number not exceeding in total 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 

treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% of the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury 

shares) may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to Shareholders. 

Resolution 11

The Ordinary Resolution 11 proposed above, if passed, renews the Share Purchase Mandate and will authorise the Directors, 

from time to time, to purchase shares subject to and in accordance with the Guidelines on Share Purchases, the SGX-ST 

Listing Manual and such other laws and regulations as may for the time being be applicable.

The Company intends to use internal sources of funds or external borrowings or a combination of both to finance its purchase 

or acquisition of shares. 

An illustration on the financial impact of a purchase or acquisition of shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 

Mandate on the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 

is set out in Section 5 of the Addendum.
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PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 

Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 

member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration 

and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual 

General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes 

and other documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the 

Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 

(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/

or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such 

proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of 

the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify 

the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach 

of warranty. 
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NOTICE OF BOOKS CLOSURE AND DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that subject to Shareholders’ approval for the proposed first and final dividend of 6 cents tax 

exempt (one-tier) dividend per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Register of Transfers and Register of 

Members will be closed from 10 May 2016 to 11 May 2016, both days inclusive, for the purpose of determining Shareholders’ 

entitlement to the proposed dividend.

Duly completed transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited of 112 Robinson Road 

#05-01, Singapore 068902, up to 5.00 p.m. on 9 May 2016 will be registered to determine Shareholders’ entitlement to the 

proposed dividend. Shareholders whose Securities Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with the 

shares as at 9 May 2016 will be entitled to the proposed dividend. 

The proposed dividend, if approved by Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 April 2016, will be paid 

on 18 May 2016. 
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I/We,	 (Name)	 (NRIC/Passport No.)

of	

being a *member/members of WHEELOCK PROPERTIES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name Address
NRIC/Passport

Number
Proportion of

Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

as *my/our *proxy/proxies, to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the 43rd Annual General Meeting of the Company 
to be held at Grand Ballroom, Level 3, Hilton Singapore, 581 Orchard Road, Singapore 238883 on Friday, 29 April 2016 at 2.00 p.m. 
and at any adjournment thereof.

Voting will be conducted by poll. If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please tick ( ) 
within the relevant box provided. Alternatively, if you wish to exercise your votes both “For” and “Against” the relevant resolution, 
please indicate the number of shares in the boxes provided. In the absence of specific directions, the *proxy/proxies may vote 
or abstain as *he/they may think fit.

No. Resolutions For Against

1
To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Audited Financial Statements and 
Auditors’ Report thereon

2 To approve First and Final Dividend

3 To approve Directors’ fees

4 To re-elect Mr Stephen Tin Hoi Ng as Director

5 To re-elect Mr Greg Fook Hin Seow as Director

6 To re-elect Mr Tan Zing Yan as Director

7 To re-elect Mr Lee Wai Chung as Director

8 To re-appoint Mr Frank Yung-Cheng Yung as Director

9 To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration

10 To authorise the Directors to issue shares

11 To approve the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

*Delete accordingly.

Dated this 	 day of 	 2016.

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Shares Held in : Number of Shares

CDP Register 

Register of Members

IMPORTANT:

1.	 Relevant intermediaries as defined in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 may 
appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting.

2.	 For CPF/SRS investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Wheelock Properties 
(Singapore) Limited shares, this Proxy Form is not valid for use and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them. CPF/SRS investors 
should contact their respective Agent Banks if they have any queries regarding their 
appointment as proxies.

Personal Data Privacy
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member 
accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting dated 13 April 2016.

PROXY FORM

WHEELOCK PROPERTIES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration No. 197201797H



1st fold here

2nd fold here

3rd fold here

PROXY FORM

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
WHEELOCK PROPERTIES (SINGAPORE) LIMITED

501 ORCHARD ROAD #11-01
WHEELOCK PLACE

SINGAPORE 238880

Please 
Affix 

Postage 
Stamp 
Here

Notes:

1.	 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures 
Act, Chapter 289), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the number of Shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instruction appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
relate to all Shares held by you.

2.	 A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company. A member appointing more 
than one proxy shall specify the percentage of Shares to be represented by each proxy and if no percentage is specified, the first named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100% of the 
shareholding and the second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the first named.

3.	 A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the number of shares in relation to which each proxy has been 
appointed shall be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies. “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

4.	 A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 501 Orchard Road #11-01, Wheelock Place, Singapore 238880 not less than 
48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.  

6.	 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument, failing which, the instrument may 
be treated as invalid.

7.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance 
with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore.

8.	 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointer are 
not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in the instruments appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members whose Shares are entered against 
their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such members are not shown to have Shares entered against 
their names in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

9.	 Please refer to the notes set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 13 April 2016.



1st fold here

2nd fold here

3rd fold here

proxy form

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
wheelocK properties (singapore) limiteD

501 ORCHARD ROAD #11-01
WHEELOCK PLACE

SINGAPORE 238880

Please 
Affix 

Postage 
Stamp 
Here

notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures 
Act, Chapter 289), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 
Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the number of Shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instruction appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to 
relate to all Shares held by you.

2. A member who is not a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting of the Company. A member appointing more 
than one proxy shall specify the percentage of Shares to be represented by each proxy and if no percentage is specified, the first named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100% of the 
shareholding and the second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the first named.

3. A member who is a relevant intermediary is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend, speak and vote at the meeting, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights 
attached to a different share or shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the number of shares in relation to which each proxy has been 
appointed shall be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies. “Relevant intermediary” has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 501 Orchard Road #11-01, Wheelock Place, Singapore 238880 not less than 
48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.  

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies 
is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is 
signed on behalf of the appointer by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument, failing which, the instrument may 
be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance 
with its Constitution and Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointer are 
not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in the instruments appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members whose Shares are entered against 
their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such members are not shown to have Shares entered against 
their names in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

9. Please refer to the notes set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 13 April 2016.
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